LOCAL MODELS AND PSEUDO-CARACTERS

An introduction And an application

Lectures given at IMSc

Chennai 22 January / 15 February 2010

Olivier Ramaré

Introduction

The first aim of these notes is to explain the notions of *local model* and of *pseudo-character*. The latter one originates from the work of Selberg, Motohashi and Jutila in the seventies. The first notion can be traced back to the book of (Motohashi, 1983) and is really introduced in (Ramaré, 2009). The second aim of these notes is to show how analytical techniques can be used to great effect to enhance the power of the large sieve.

We shall first concentrate in proving Hoheisel Theorem^{*}, i.e.

Theorem 0.1. There exist two constants x_0 and $a \in [\frac{1}{2}, 1)^{\dagger}$ such that there is at least one prime in any interval $(x, x + x^a)$, provided $x \ge x_0$.

This Theorem has been extended in (Gallagher, 1970) and (Motohashi, 1978) to include the celebrated Theorem of Linnik on the least prime in an arithmetic progression, proven in (Linnik, 1944a) and (Linnik, 1944b). We shall use heavily the paper (Motohashi, 1978) as well as the subsequent book (Motohashi, 1983).[‡]. We shall avoid the notion of *zerodensity estimate* and use only the (de la Vallée-Poussin, 1899) zero-free region, while the original proof used (at least) the region of (Littlewood, 1922)[§].

The proof we follow is a simplication[¶] of the method to Motohashi. In the course of this proof, we shall introduce analytical material: a hybrid large sieve inequality adapted to Dirichlet polynomials and the Mellin transform. We mention here that Selberg gave in 1973-74 a series of lectures at Princeton in which pseudo-characters were introduced. See the remark at the bottom of page 164 of (Motohashi, 1978).

Our next step will be to generalize this. We develop the material required to use Motohashi's method in a general context. This is where general *pseudo-characters* are being used.

Let us say rapidly here the notion of local models applies to general sieving situation, like when sieving an interval to get twin primes, while the notion of pseudo-characters applies when sieving the initial interval weighted by a non-negative multiplicative function to get the prime numbers only. Using the terminology of chapter 12, the host sequence in the chacteristic function of the interval [1, N] multiplied by a non-negative multiplicative function while the compact set is the set of invertible elements. We will further show

^{*}See (Hoheisel, 1930)

[†]The important thing is that a should be < 1.

[‡]The reader may also look at (Iwaniec & Kowalski, 2004, chapter 18).

[§]See also (Weyl, 1921) and (Titchmarsh, 1951, Theorem 5.17).

[¶]In this simpler context!

that the pseudo-characters can in fact be seen as local models but modified local scalar products

Let us mention here a difference in the approach we present with the one proposed by Motohashi. Given a non-negative multiplicative function, this author seeks to minimize the quadratic form

$$\sum_{n} f(n) \left(\sum_{d|n} \lambda_d\right)^2$$

under condition $\lambda_1 = 1$. Minimum is asked for simply to get as small an upper bound as possible, while condition $\lambda_1 = 1$ is asked for to get (10.5). In the approach we propose, we want to approximate (and we will only be able to majorize) the quantity $\sum_p f(p)$, where the sum ranges only over prime numbers. We get the same result.

Recently (Kowalski & Michel, 2002) have introduced analogues of these pseudo-characters in the frame of modular forms and we hope that these notes will enable the reader to better understand this nascent notion by making the usual one clearer.

For a general Hoheisel like Theorem, see (Ramachandra, 1976).

This introduction gets carried further at beginning of chapter 14 where we will have all the necessary vocabulary.

Overview of the lectures:

Friday 22/01 Introductory lecture

- (a) The Hoheisel Theorem.
- (b) The large sieve inequality.
- (c) Brun-Tichmarsh Theorem via local models (and $G(R) \ge \log R$).

Monday 25/01 Some analytical tools

- (a) Integral version of an inequality of Gallagher.
- (b) On the Perron summation formula.
- (c) Defining Λ .
- (d) ψ in terms of $-\zeta'/\zeta$.

Wednesday 27/01 Barban & Vehov weights

- (a) The $\lambda_d^{(1)}$ and Graham's Lemma. Writing with L(y, d).
- (b) Proof of Theorem 10.1 and (10.7).
- 1-6 1 Hoheisel Theorem via pseudo characters
 - (a) V_r and its factorization.
 - (b) The companions
 - (c) $V^*(s; Z)$.
 - (d) Choosing the parameters.
- 1-6 2 Compacts sets and local models

- 1. The compact set linked with the prime numbers and the one associated to the prime twins.
- 2. Going to $\mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z}$ and local models.
- 3. Large sieve inequalities.
- 8-13 1 Extension to multiplicative functions.
 - (a) Hypothesis on f.
 - (b) Local scalar products and orthogonal basis.
 - (c) Pseudo-characters,
 - (d) A large sieve inequality for pseudo-characters.
- $8\mathchar`-13$ 2 Extending the Motohashi setting

Contents

Table of content			
Introduction			1
1	Setting the background		7
	1.1	Some details on (1.4) and (1.5)	9
2	Lar	ge sieve ingredients	11
	2.1	The large sieve inequality	11
	2.2	Using the large sieve inequality to sieve the prime numbers	11
	2.3	An integral hybrid	13
	2.4	A numerical improvement on the Theorem of Gallagher	15
		2.4.1 Some material taken from Vaaler	16
3	On	the Mellin transform	19
	3.1	Some smoothed formulae	19
	3.2	Mellin transforms	20
	3.3	A truncated Mellin transform	21
	3.4	Expressing ψ in terms of $\zeta'(s)/\zeta(s)$	24
4	The	e local method of Landau et alia	25
	4.1	The Borel-Caratheodory Theorem	25
	4.2	The Landau local method	26
	4.3	Consequence for the Riemann zeta function	27
	4.4	Bounding $ \zeta'/\zeta $ next to the line $\Re s = 1$	29
		4.4.1 Landau's way	30
		4.4.2 Linnik's way	30
		4.4.3 Titchmarsh's way	31
	4.5	Bounding $ 1/\zeta $ next to the line $\Re s = 1$	31
	4.6	Some other consequences	32
	4.7	Better bounds	32
5	Kno	own facts about ζ	33

6	Barban & Vehov weights	35			
7	Analytic proof of Barban-Vehov bound7.1A preliminary estimate7.2Proof of the main theorem7.3An asymptotic formula	37 37 39 41			
8	Elementary proof of Barban-Vehov bound 8.1 A general Theorem 8.2 Preliminary Lemmas 8.3 The method More general weights	43 43 44 47			
10	Note general weights A proof of Hoheisel Theorem 10.1 Introduction of the Mellin transform 10.2 Building the companions 10.3 A good representation of $V_r(s)$ when $\Re s$ is close to 1 10.4 Using the large sieve inequality	53 53 54 56 57			
11	11 Gallagher prime number Theorem 5				
12 13	 2 A geometrical approach to the sieve 12.1 The sieve problem	63 63 64 67			
	13.2 Two inequalities involving local models	69			
14	4 Sieving multiplicative functions 14.1 The hypothesis on f and some consequences	71 72 73 75 77 79			
15	15 While reading Motohashi				
No	Notations				
Re	References				
In	Index				

Chapter 1

Setting the background

Here is one of the Theorem we are going to prove in these lectures.

Hoheisel Theorem. There exist two constants x_0 and $a \in [\frac{1}{2}, 1)^*$ such that there is at least one prime in any interval $(x, x + x^a]$, provided $x \ge x_0$.

This is proven in (Hoheisel, 1930). Let me tell you why this result created quite a shock when it was published. To do so, let us introduce some notations and introduce the Tchebysheff ϑ function:

$$\vartheta(x) = \sum_{p \le x} \operatorname{Log} p \tag{1.1}$$

where p runs through prime numbers. The above Theorem says that

$$\vartheta(x+h) - \vartheta(x) > 0$$

with $h = x^a$. We have the prime number Theorem at our disposal, that says that

$$\vartheta(y) = y + \mathcal{O}(R(y)) \qquad (y \ge 2) \tag{1.2}$$

where $R(y) \ge 0$ is[†] a remainder term and we can take for instance

$$R(y) = y/(\log y)^{100}.$$
(1.3)

Let us use (1.2) on our problem. It yields (when $0 \le h \le x$)

$$\vartheta(x+h) - \vartheta(x) = h + \mathcal{O}(R(x+h) + R(x))$$

which we want to be positive. On taking R as in (1.3), we find that

$$R(x+h) + R(x) \ll x/(\log x)^{100}.$$

We can thus prove that $\vartheta(x+h) - \vartheta(x) > 0$ when h is larger than a constant time $x/(\log x)^{100}$. This is way larger than what we want! So, what is the error term this

^{*}The important thing is that \overline{a} should be < 1.

[†]...an upper bound of...

approach requires to work? Well, it is not hard to see that we would need something like $R(y) \leq y^a/3$. Such an estimate is way out of reach for the following reason. The function

$$D(s) = s \int_{1}^{\infty} \vartheta(y) dy/y^{s+1}$$
(1.4)

is in fact equal to^{*} (when $\Re s > 1$)

$$D(s) = -\frac{\zeta'(s)}{\zeta(s)} + g(s) \tag{1.5}$$

where the function g(s) is analytical for at least $\Re s > 1/2$. The estimate $R(y) \leq y^a/3$ implies, on using (1.4), that D(s) has an meromorphic continuation on the half-plane $\Re s > a$ with a simple pole at s = 1. But this implies in turn that $-\zeta'(s)/\zeta(s)$ has the same property, and thus the Riemann ζ -function cannot vanish in this region! In short, we are simply asking for a quasi-Riemann hypothesis[†] –

Looking closer, we see that the above proof would not only give the existence of a prime in the given interval, but also prove that the number of primes in this interval is what it should be. It can be proven that the two statements:

- the Riemann zeta function does not vanish for $\Re s > a$,
- $\vartheta(x) = x + \mathcal{O}(x^b)$ for any b > a

are equivalent.

This is why Hoheisel Theorem was so surprising. So what were the ingredients of his proof? He needed two strong arguments:

- ZRF: A strong zero-free region for ζ^{\ddagger} ;
- ZDE: A zero density estimate, i.e. a tool that says that the Riemann zeta function may have zeros close to the line $\Re s = 1$ but not too many.

The first one belongs to the classical stream ("prove that the zeta function does not vanish as far as one can from the line $\Re s = 1$ ") and its proof shares this same property[§], but the second one is more surprising. This line of thoughts, in terms of density estimates, has been initiated by Bohr. Here I shorten the history[¶].

The method developed by Selberg (see (Bombieri, 1987/1974a)[Theorem ?]), (Jutila, 1977b) and (Motohashi, 1978) replaces these two arguments by a single one and this is

^{*}See section 1.1

[†]The Riemann hypothesis asserts that the Riemann zeta function does not vanish for $\Re s > 1/2$; the quasi-Riemann hypothesis that there exists a < 1 such that this function does not vanish on the half plane $\Re s > a$.

[‡]At least of the level of the Littlewood-Weyl one from(Littlewood, 1922). See also (Weyl, 1921) and (Titchmarsh, 1951, Theorem 5.17).

[§]It goes by studying exponential sums.

[¶]And noticeably skip Linnik's gigantic contribution in the forties, see (Linnik, 1944a) and (Linnik, 1944b). He discovered in particular that both arguments could be replaced by two strong density estimates (one of them being Linnik's density Lemma). I have to mention also (Gallagher, 1970).

one of the object of these lectures. It is difficult to continue without having much more material, also because the philosophy of the method at stake is still not well understood, or at least, I feel my understanding of it to be very incomplete. The main new ingredient seems however to be a large sieve estimate.

Let me simply add some remarks at this level:

- The method was somehow forgotten, and can be found in full in (Motohashi, 1978) and (Motohashi, 1983). Recently (Kowalski & Michel, 2002) adapted a raw form of this method to the context of modular form. A good amount of arithmetical information is however still missing to duplicate the original proof.
- One of the main argument comes from the large sieve inequality and in its capability in producing a sieve effect.
- Once the previous point has been seen, one can prove density estimates or go directly to the original problem. This is what we do here, following (Motohashi, 1978).
- On the special problem of the Hoheisel Theorem, we simply mention that the next step is due to (Iwaniec & Jutila, 1979), where they developped much more the sieve argument.

1.1 Some details on (1.4) and (1.5)

The Riemann zeta function is given by

$$\zeta(s) = \sum_{n \ge 1} 1/n^s = \prod_{p \ge 2} \frac{1}{1 - p^{-s}}$$
(1.6)

and s is a complex numbers such that $\Re s > 1$. On taking the logarithmic derivative, we find that

$$-\frac{\zeta'(s)}{\zeta(s)} = \sum_{p} \frac{\log p}{p^s - 1} = \sum_{n \ge 1} \frac{\Lambda(n)}{n^s}$$
(1.7)

where Λ is the van Mangoldt function defined by

$$\Lambda(n) = \begin{cases} \text{Log } p & \text{when } n = p^{\nu} \text{ for some prime } p \text{ and integer } \nu \ge 1, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(1.8)

This function essentially puts a weight Log p at every prime number p and the reader may overlook^{*} what happens for prime powers. This expression of $-\zeta'/\zeta$ is valid only for $\Re s > 1$. It is now fairly easy to prove that

$$-\frac{\zeta'(s)}{\zeta(s)} = \sum_{p \ge 2} \frac{\log p}{p^s} + g(s) \tag{1.9}$$

*In first approximation! Since their contribution is very small.

Local models and pseudo-characters

where g(s) is analytic for $\Re s > 1/2$. On the other hand, a classical summation by parts gives us:

$$\sum_{p\geq 2} \frac{\log p}{p^s} = s \sum_{p\geq 2} \log p \int_p^\infty dy/y^{s+1}$$
$$= s \int_2^\infty \sum_{p\leq y} \log p \, dy/y^{s+1} = D(s)$$

by (1.4). On combining this with (1.9), we prove (1.5).

Chapter 2

Large sieve ingredients

2.1 The large sieve inequality

We do not have time to present the large sieve inequality in full details. The reader will find proofs, historical details and further developments in (Montgomery, 1971) and in (Bombieri, 1987/1974a). Here is the large sieve inequality in the special form we will require.

Theorem 2.1. Let $(u_n)_{y \le n \le y+N}$ be a sequence of complex numbers. We have

$$\sum_{r \le R} \sum_{a \bmod r} \left| \sum_{y < n \le y + N} u_n e(na/r) \right|^2 \le \sum_{y < n \le y + N} |u_n|^2 \left(N - 1 + R^2 \right)$$

where $e(\alpha) = \exp(2i\pi\alpha)$.

This inequality is exactly taken from (Montgomery & Vaughan, 1974).*

2.2 Using the large sieve inequality to sieve the prime numbers

We give here a first example:

*Well, looking closely the inequality in the paper quoted seems to have $N + R^2$ instead of $N - 1 + R^2$. The $N - 1 + R^2$ can be obtained in several ways:

- 2. Cohen, a student of Montgomery, showed that one could get this -1 starting from Montgomery & Vaughan's result.
- 3. All this historical debate is made pointless in our case by the following remark: what occurs is the spacing between two consecutive Farey points a/r and b/r'. But we know that $r + r' \leq R$, so in fact the inverse of this spacing is at most $R(R-1) \leq R^2 1$, provided $R \geq 2$.

^{1. (}Selberg, 1991) in his lectures on sieves proves it. In fact Selberg got the optimal large sieve inequality in a general context at exactly the same time as Montgomery & Vaughan did, except that the -1 was missing in their case.

The -1 will be convenient later on.

Theorem 2.2. Let $(u_n)_{n \leq N}$ be a sequence of complex numbers. We have, for any $M \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$\sum_{r \le R} \frac{\mu^2(r)}{\phi(r)} \Big| \sum_{n \le N} u_n c_r(n+M) \Big|^2 \le \sum_{n \le N} |u_n|^2 (N-1+R^2)$$

where $c_r(m)$ is the Ramanujan sum modulo r.*

Note that this also gives the inequality

$$\sum_{r \le R} \frac{\mu^2(r)}{\phi(r)} \Big| \sum_{y < n \le y + N} u_n c_r(n) \Big|^2 \le \sum_{y < n \le y + N} |u_n|^2 (N - 1 + R^2).$$
(2.1)

Proof. Indeed, we can write

$$c_r(m) = \sum_{a \bmod^* r} e(am/r)$$
(2.2)

and we only need to use the Cauchy-Schwartz inequality followed by Theorem 2.1 to conclude. $\hfill \Box$

This Theorem is in essence (Wolke, 1974, (8)) (see also (Wolke, 1973)) as noted by Richert in the notes of (Richert, 1976, Chapter 2). The coefficients $c_r(n)$ are the first instance of what Selberg called *pseudo-characters*. In this special context, they are also, upto a multiplicative factor independent of r, what we have called *local models* in (Ramaré, 2009). We shall explain that in more details in subsequent lectures.

A first application

Let us take for (u_n) is the characteristic function of the primes in the interval (M, M+N], where we additionally assume that $M > \sqrt{N}$. In that case, and provided $R \leq \sqrt{N}$, we see that $u_n c_r(n) = u_n \mu(r)$ when $r \leq R$ since either n is not a prime number and both side vanish, or it is one and it is prime to r. We have thus reached

$$\sum_{r \le R} \frac{\mu^2(r)}{\phi(r)} \Big| \sum_n u_n \Big|^2 \le \sum_n |u_n|^2 (N - 1 + R^2).$$

On setting $Z = \sum_{n} u_n = \sum_{n} |u_n|^2$, this yields

$$Z \le (N - 1 + R^2) / \sum_{r \le R} \frac{\mu^2(r)}{\phi(r)}$$

We are left with showing that

$$\sum_{r \le R} \frac{\mu^2(r)}{\phi(r)} \ge \log R.$$
(2.3)

*See (2.2) and (10.8).

Proof. Let us first note that

$$\frac{\mu^2(r)}{\phi(r)} = \frac{\mu^2(r)}{r} \prod_{p|r} \frac{1}{1 - \frac{1}{p}} = \frac{\mu^2(r)}{r} \prod_{p|r} \left(1 + \frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{p^2} + \cdots\right)$$
$$= \sum_{r|\ell \subset r} \frac{1}{\ell}$$

where the summation ranges over every integer ℓ that are divisible by r and all whose prime factors are the ones of r. As a consequence

$$\sum_{r \le R} \frac{\mu^2(r)}{\phi(r)} = \sum_{\ell} \frac{1}{\ell}$$

where ℓ ranges the integers all whose prime factors are not more than R. The range [1, R] is included thus covered, which ends the proof provided one remembers that

$$\sum_{\ell \leq R} 1/\ell \geq \log R \quad (R \geq 1).$$

On choosing $R = \sqrt{N} / \log N$, we get the following version of the Brun-Titchmarsh Theorem:

Theorem 2.3. The number Z of prime numbers in the interval (y, y + N] is at most

$$2(1 + o(1))N / \log N.$$

We have established this Theorem under the condition $y > \sqrt{N}$, and we let the reader complete the proof.

This proof shows clearly the sieving effect (in a somewhat vague sense) of the factor $c_r(m)$. The reader will find in (Elliott, 1992) a very same use of this factor.

This example shows that inequality (2.1) "contains" informations on the distribution of primes in short intervals, since in the Brun-Titchmarsh Theorem, N can be much smaller than M. Note however that we have access to an upper bound, and this is typical of sieve results for primes. We shall combine this approach with some analytic material (Mellin transforms and Cauchy residue Theorem) to get a lower bound, as required for Hoheisel Theorem.

2.3 An integral hybrid

Let us start by a Lemma due to Gallagher (this is (Gallagher, 1970, Lemma 1), as well as (Bombieri, 1987/1974a, Theorem 9)).

Theorem 2.4. Let c > 1 be a real parameter. With $\tau = e^{2\pi/(cT)}$, we have

$$\int_{-T}^{T} \left| \sum_{n} w_{n} n^{it} \right|^{2} dt \leq \frac{\pi^{2}}{\sin(\pi/c)^{2}} T^{2} \int_{0}^{\infty} \left| \sum_{y < n \leq \tau y} w_{n} \right|^{2} dy/y$$

for every absolutely convergent series $\sum_n w_n$.

We give a very explicit version of this Lemma but we shall only use it with c = 2 in the sequel.

Proof. We follow (Bombieri, 1987/1974a, Théorème 9) closely. Let $\delta > 0$ be a parameter to be chosen. We define

$$F_{\delta}(x) = \begin{cases} \delta^{-1} & \text{when } |x| \le \delta/2, \\ 0 & \text{else,} \end{cases}$$

whose Fourier transform is given by

$$\hat{F}_{\delta}(t) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} F_{\delta}(x) e(xt) dt = \frac{\sin \pi \delta t}{\pi \delta t}.$$
(2.4)

We obtain

$$\sum_{n} w_n e^{2i\pi t (\log n)/(2\pi)} \hat{F}_{\delta}(t) = \sum_{n} w_n F_{\delta} \left(t - \frac{\log n}{2\pi} \right).$$

Parseval identity yields

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left| \sum_{n} w_n e^{2i\pi t (\log n)/(2\pi)} \frac{\sin \pi \delta t}{\pi \delta t} \right|^2 dt = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left| \sum_{|\log n - 2\pi x| \le \pi \delta} w_n \delta^{-1} \right|^2 dx.$$

Let us recall that the function $t \mapsto (\sin \pi \delta t)/(\pi \delta t)$ is non-increasing for $\delta |t| \leq 1$, which enables us to write

$$\left(\frac{\sin(\pi/c)}{\pi/c}\right)^2 \int_{-(c\delta)^{-1}}^{(c\delta)^{-1}} \left|\sum_n w_n n^{it}\right|^2 \leq \int_0^\infty \left|\delta^{-1} \sum_{ze^{-\pi\delta} < n \leq e^{\pi\delta}z} w_n\right|^2 dz/z \\
\leq \int_0^\infty \left|\delta^{-1} \sum_{y < n \leq e^{2\pi\delta}y} w_n\right|^2 dy/y$$

with $2\pi x = \text{Log } z$. We take $\delta = 1/(cT)$ to conclude.

Theorem 2.5. When $T \ge \pi$, we have

$$\sum_{r \le R} \sum_{a \bmod^* r} \int_{-T}^{T} \left| \sum_{n \le N} u_n n^{it} e(an/r) \right|^2 dt \le 500 \sum_n |u_n|^2 (n + R^2 T).$$

The constant 500 is indeed very large, but see Theorem 2.6 below for an improvement.

February 12, 2010

Proof. We use Lemma 2.4 together with Theorem 2.1:

$$\begin{split} \sum_{r \leq R} \sum_{a \bmod^* r} \int_{-T}^{T} \left| \sum_{n} u_n n^{it} e(an/r) \right|^2 dt \\ &\leq \pi^2 T^2 \int_{0}^{\infty} \sum_{r \leq R} \sum_{a \bmod^* r} \left| \sum_{y < n \leq \tau y} u_n e(an/r) \right|^2 dy/y \\ &\leq \pi^2 T^2 \int_{0}^{\infty} \sum_{y < n \leq \tau y} |u_n|^2 [(\tau - 1)y + R^2] dy/y \\ &\leq \pi^2 T^2 \sum_{n \geq 1} |u_n|^2 \int_{n/\tau}^n [(\tau - 1)y + R^2] dy/y. \end{split}$$

We rewrite this upper bounde as

$$\pi^2 T^2 \sum_{n \ge 1} |u_n|^2 \left((\tau + \tau^{-1} - 2)n + R^2 \operatorname{Log} \tau \right).$$

We conclude by noticing that $(e^x + e^{-x} - 2) \leq \frac{11}{10}x^2$ as soon as $|x| \leq 1$.

Corollary 2.1. When $T \ge \pi$ and $M \in \mathbb{R}$, we have

$$\sum_{r \le R} \frac{\mu^2(r)}{\phi(r)} \int_{-T}^T \left| \sum_{n \le N} u_n n^{it} c_r(n+M) \right|^2 dt \le 500 \sum_n |u_n|^2 (n+R^2T).$$

2.4 A numerical improvement on the Theorem of Gallagher

This section is still very much in progress.

We investigate here the proof of Theorem 2.4 with the aim of reducing the constant 500. Here is a "generic" proof.

Let F be a function to be chosen later. We assume that F(t) = 0 as soon as $|t| \ge 1/2$. Let $\delta > 0$ be a parameter that we shall also chose later. We define

$$F_{\delta}(x) = F(x/\delta).$$

We thus get

$$\sum_{n} u_n e^{2i\pi t (\log n)/(2\pi)} \hat{F}_{\delta}(t) = \sum_{n} u_n F_{\delta} \left(t - \frac{\log n}{2\pi} \right).$$

Parseval indentity yields

$$\begin{split} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left| \sum_{n} u_{n} e^{2i\pi t (\log n)/(2\pi)} \hat{F}_{\delta}(t) \right|^{2} dt &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left| \sum_{n} u_{n} F_{\delta} \left(x - \frac{\log n}{2\pi} \right) \right|^{2} dx \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \left| \sum_{n} u_{n} F_{\delta} \left(\frac{\log(y/n)}{2\pi} \right) \right|^{2} dy/y. \end{split}$$

Local models and pseudo-characters

February 12, 2010

Our hypothesis on F implies that the y's in the relevant range verify $e^{-\pi\delta} \leq y/n \leq e^{\pi\delta}$. As a consequence

$$\begin{split} \sum_{r \leq R} \sum_{a \bmod^* r} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left| \sum_n u_n n^{it} e(na/r) \hat{F}_{\delta}(t) \right|^2 dt \\ &\leq \int_0^{\infty} \sum_n |u_n|^2 \left| F_{\delta} \Big(\frac{\log(y/n)}{2\pi} \Big) \Big|^2 \Big(y(e^{\pi\delta} - e^{-\pi\delta}) + R^2 \Big) dy / y \\ &\leq \sum_n |u_n|^2 \int_0^{\infty} \left| F_{\delta} \Big(\frac{\log(y/n)}{2\pi} \Big) \Big|^2 \Big(e^{\pi\delta} - e^{-\pi\delta} + R^2 y^{-1} \Big) dy \\ &\leq \sum_n |u_n|^2 \int_0^{\infty} \left| F_{\delta} \Big(\frac{\log u}{2\pi} \Big) \Big|^2 \Big(n(e^{\pi\delta} - e^{-\pi\delta}) + R^2 u^{-1} \Big) du \\ &\leq \sum_n |u_n|^2 n(e^{\pi\delta} - e^{-\pi\delta}) \int_0^{\infty} \left| F \Big(\frac{\log u}{2\pi\delta} \Big) \Big|^2 du + R^2 \sum_n |u_n|^2 \int_0^{\infty} \left| F \Big(\frac{\log u}{2\pi\delta} \Big) \Big|^2 du / u. \end{split}$$

We change variable by setting $u = \exp(2\pi\delta w)$. We get

$$\begin{split} \sum_{r \leq R} \sum_{a \bmod * r} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left| \sum_{n} u_{n} n^{it} e(na/r) \hat{F}_{\delta}(t) \right|^{2} dt \\ \leq 2\pi \delta \sum_{n} |u_{n}|^{2} n(e^{\pi\delta} - e^{-\pi\delta}) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |F(w)|^{2} e^{2\pi\delta w} dw + 2\pi \delta R^{2} \sum_{n} |u_{n}|^{2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |F(w)|^{2} dw \\ \leq 2\pi \delta \sum_{n} |u_{n}|^{2} \left(n(e^{\pi\delta} - e^{-\pi\delta}) e^{\pi\delta} + R^{2} \right) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |F(w)|^{2} dw. \end{split}$$

Since $\hat{F}_{\delta}(t) = \delta \hat{F}(\delta t)$, we have finally reached

$$\sum_{r \le R} \sum_{a \bmod r} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left| \sum_{n} u_n n^{it} e(na/r) \hat{F}(\delta t) \right|^2 dt \le 2\pi \sum_{n} |u_n|^2 \left(n \frac{e^{2\pi\delta} - 1}{\delta} + R^2 \delta^{-1} \right) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |F(w)|^2 dw.$$

Now that we have this generic proof at our disposal, we simple have to optimise the choice of the function F. We want $\hat{F}(\delta t) \ge 1$ when $|t| \le T$ as well as F(x) = 0 when $|x| \ge 1/2$. It is more usual to set $G = \hat{F}$ and to ask that $G(t) \ge 1$ when $|t| \le \delta T$, and $\hat{G}(x) = 0$ when $|x| \ge 1/2$ (we have to minimize $\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |G(t)|^2 dt$).

2.4.1 Some material taken from Vaaler

We consider the two functions

$$H(z) = \left(\frac{\sin \pi z}{z}\right)^2 \left(\sum_{\substack{m \in \mathbb{Z}, \\ m \neq 0}} \frac{\operatorname{sgn} m}{(z-m)^2} + \frac{2}{z}\right)$$
(2.5)

and

$$K(z) = \left(\frac{\sin \pi z}{z}\right)^2.$$
 (2.6)

We build from them the following function

$$G(z) = \frac{1}{2} \left(H(\theta(z+x_0)) + K(\theta(z+x_0)) - H(\theta(z-x_0)) + K(\theta(z-x_0)) \right).$$
(2.7)

We can also write

$$\begin{split} 2G(z) &= H(\theta(z+x_0)) - \operatorname{sgn}(\theta(z+x_0)) + K(\theta(z+x_0)) \\ &\quad - H(\theta(z-x_0)) + \operatorname{sgn}(\theta(z-x_0)) + K(\theta(z-x_0)) + 2\mathbbm{1}_{|z| \le x_0} \end{split}$$

which is $\geq 21_{|z| \leq x_0}$ thanks to (Vaaler, 1985, Lemma 5). This same paper helps us in computing its Fourier transform (see (Vaaler, 1985, (2.29)) and (Vaaler, 1985, Corollary 7)):

$$2\hat{G}(t) = \theta^{-1} \frac{\hat{J}(t/\theta) - 1}{i\pi t/\theta} e(tx_0) + \theta^{-1} (1 - |t/\theta|)^+ e(tx_0) - \theta^{-1} \frac{\hat{J}(t/\theta) - 1}{i\pi t/\theta} e(-tx_0) + \theta^{-1} (1 - |t/\theta|)^+ e(-tx_0) + 2 \frac{e(x_0t) - e(-x_0t)}{2i\pi t} = \frac{\hat{J}(t/\theta)}{\pi t} 2\sin(2\pi tx_0) + 2\theta^{-1} (1 - |t/\theta|)^+ \cos(2\pi tx_0).$$

(Vaaler, 1985, (2.32)) computes the Fourier transform of J and shows in particular that $\hat{J}(t) = 0$ when $|t| \ge 1$. We thus take $\theta = 1/2$ and $x_0 = \delta T$. We have reached

$$\hat{G}(t) = \frac{\hat{J}(2t)}{\pi t} \sin(2\pi t x_0) + 2(1 - |2t|)^+ \cos(2\pi t x_0).$$

We now have to compute its L^2 -norm. We have

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |\hat{G}(t)|^2 dt = 2 \int_{0}^{1/2} \left| \frac{\hat{J}(2t)}{\pi t} \sin(2\pi t x_0) + 2(1-2t) \cos(2\pi t x_0) \right|^2 dt$$
$$= 2 \int_{0}^{1/2} \left| \frac{2\pi t (1-2t) \cot(2\pi t) + 2t}{\pi t} \sin(2\pi t x_0) + 2(1-2t) \cos(2\pi t x_0) \right|^2 dt$$
$$= \int_{0}^{1} \left| \frac{2\pi (1-t) \cot(\pi t) + 2}{\pi} \sin(\pi t x_0) + 2(1-t) \cos(\pi t x_0) \right|^2 dt = \rho(x_0).$$

Here is the inequality we have proven so far

$$\sum_{r \le R} \sum_{a \bmod^* r} \int_{-T}^{T} \left| \sum_{n} u_n n^{it} e(na/r) \right|^2 dt \le 2\pi \sum_{n} |u_n|^2 \left(n \frac{e^{2\pi\delta} - 1}{\delta} + R^2 \delta^{-1} \right) \rho(\delta T).$$

We take $\delta = 2\pi/T$ and compute that $\rho(1/(2\pi)) = 1.7762 + \mathcal{O}^*(10^{-4})$, which yields **Theorem 2.6.** When $T \ge 2000$, we have

$$\sum_{r \le R} \sum_{a \bmod^* r} \int_{-T}^{T} \left| \sum_{n} u_n n^{it} e(na/r) \right|^2 dt \le 71 \sum_{n} |u_n|^2 (n + R^2 T).$$

The best coefficient with respect to $\sum_n |u_n|^2 n$ seems to be $16\pi^2/3 = 52.6378 + \mathcal{O}^*(10^{-4})$, got when $x_0 = 0$.

Local models and pseudo-characters

Chapter 3

On the Mellin transform

3.1 Some smoothed formulae

Let us start by computing some complex integrals.

Lemma 3.1. We have, when x > 0:

$$\frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{2-i\infty}^{2+i\infty} \frac{x^{-z}dz}{z^2} = \begin{cases} -\log x & \text{when } x < 1\\ 0 & \text{when } x \ge 1. \end{cases}$$

Lemma 3.2. We have, when x > 0:

$$\frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{2-i\infty}^{2+i\infty} \frac{2x^{-z}dz}{z(z+1)(z+2)} = \begin{cases} (1-x)^2 & \text{when } x < 1\\ 0 & \text{when } x \ge 1. \end{cases}$$

Proof. Indeed, when $x \ge 1$, it is enough to shift the line of integration towards the right. We have to note that in this case, the polar contributions are to be multiplied by a coefficient -1 and thate the horizontal segments give no contribution. This sentence may look mysterious at first glance, so we give now a complete proof. First the integral on a infinite path is the limit of the integral on a finite path:

$$\frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{2-i\infty}^{2+i\infty} \frac{x^{-z}dz}{z(z+1)} = \lim_{T,T'\to\infty} \frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{2-iT}^{2+iT'} \frac{x^{-z}dz}{z(z+1)}$$

where z runs overs the segments from bottom to top, and where T and T' tend independantly towards infinity. We then compare the integral on a segment to

$$\frac{-1}{2i\pi} \int_{A-iT}^{A+iT'} \frac{x^{-z}dz}{z(z+1)}$$

for some $A \ge 2$ that we shall take large but which is just now fixed. We do this comparison by applying the Cauchy residue Theorem to the rectangle with corners 2 - iT, 2 - iT', A - iT and A - iT'. The integrals on the horizontal and vertical segments are bounded above respectively by A/T^2 and by A/T'^2 which both tend to 0 when T and T' tend to ∞ . On another side, no residues belongs to the enclosed area, and thus

$$\frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{2-iT}^{2+iT'} \frac{x^{-z}dz}{z(z+1)} = \frac{-1}{2i\pi} \int_{A-iT}^{A+iT'} \frac{x^{-z}dz}{z(z+1)} + o(1)$$

where this o(1) tends to 0 when T and T' tend to infinity. We next note that the integral over $\Re s = A$ is $\mathcal{O}(x^{-A})$ since

$$\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{A-iT}^{A+iT'} \left| \frac{dz}{z(z+1)} \right|$$

is bounded above independantly of T, T' and $A \ge 2$. We then just have to let A tends to infinity. We shall summarize this process by saying that "we shift the line of integration to the right".

When x < 1, we shift this time the line of integration to the left. We get polar contribution at z = 0, z = -1 and z = -2 amounting to :

$$1 - 2x + x^2 = (1 - x)^2$$

as expected. We prove the first Lemma is a similar fashion but we have to study the contribution of a double pole at 0. $\hfill \Box$

Here is another classical transform.

Lemma 3.3 (The Cahen-Millen formula). We have, when x > 0:

$$e^{-x} = \frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{2-i\infty}^{2+i\infty} \Gamma(z) x^{-z} dz$$

Proof. We shift the line of integration to the LHS. The Γ function has a simple pole at each -n where -n is a non-positive integer. Its residue there is $(-1)^n/n!$ as shown for instance by the complements formula

$$\frac{1}{\Gamma(z)\Gamma(1-z)} = \frac{\sin \pi z}{\pi}$$

This leads to the contribution $\sum_{n\geq 0}(-x)^n/n!=e^{-x}$ as expected.

3.2 Mellin transforms

Here is how we will use these lemmas. Let f be an arithmetical function, say the divisor function $n \mapsto \tau(n)$ that counts the number of (positive) divisors of n. We have

$$\sum_{n \le x} \tau(n) \log \frac{x}{n} = \sum_{n \ge 1} \tau(n) \frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{2-i\infty}^{2+i\infty} \frac{(n/x)^{-z} dz}{z^2}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{2-i\infty}^{2+i\infty} \sum_{n \ge 1} \frac{\tau(n)}{n^z} \frac{x^z dz}{z^2} = \frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{2-i\infty}^{2+i\infty} \zeta(z)^2 \frac{x^z dz}{z^2}.$$

February 12, 2010

Formally, we start with a function f defined over $]0, \infty[$ and we want to write it in the shape

$$f(x) = \frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{c-i\infty}^{c+i\infty} Mf(z) x^{-z} dz.$$
(3.1)

On writing $z = c + 2i\pi y$ and $x = e^u$, we get

$$f(e^u) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} Mf(c+2i\pi y)e^{-uc}e^{-2i\pi uy}dy$$

that is to say that $Mf(c+2i\pi y)$ is simply the Fourier transform of $e^{uc}f(e^u)$, i.e.

$$Mf(c+2i\pi y) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f(e^u)e^{uc}e^{2i\pi uy}du$$

or also

$$Mf(z) = \int_0^\infty f(x) x^{z-1} dx.$$
 (3.2)

We call Mf the Mellin transform of the function f. The above line of derivation is formal and the convergence problems may be delicate and are to addressed seriously. It is not our aim to write a treaty on these questions but to show the reader how to reach (3.1) and thus how to guess Mf. A usual process consists in using the parameter c to ensure convergence, but the conditions at 0 and at ∞ are often antagonistic. A way to do is then to write f as $f_1 + f_2$, where f_1 vanishes when x > 1 and f_2 vanishes x < 1, with, for instance $f_1(1) = f_2(1) = f(1)/2$. We can then compute the Melin transforms of f_1 and f_2 but in distinct domains of z. If these transforms admit an analytical continuation to a common domain then $Mf_1 + Mf_2$ is a candidate for Mf.

3.3 A truncated Mellin transform

The Mellin transform of the Heavyside function Y which takes the value 0 on (0, 1), then 1/2 at 1 and 1 afterwards is simply 1/z. This transform usually does not decrease in absolute value sufficiently fast in vertical strips and this leads to convergence problem.^{*} The easiest path is to use a truncated transform. The necessary material is contained in the following Lemma:

Lemma 3.4. When $\kappa > 0$ and x > 0, we have

$$\left|Y(x) - \frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{\kappa - iT}^{\kappa + iT} \frac{x^z dz}{z}\right| \le \frac{x^\kappa}{\pi} \min\left(\frac{7}{2}, \frac{1}{T|\log x|}\right).$$

The proof will show that we have exactly the same bounds when we take for Y(1) any other value belonging to [0, 1].

^{*}These problems are not mere technicalities and concerns deep properties of the functions under scrutiny.

Proof. When x < 1, we select $K > \kappa$ tending to infinity and write

$$\left(\int_{\kappa-iT}^{\kappa+iT} + \int_{\kappa+iT}^{K+iT} + \int_{K+iT}^{K-iT} + \int_{K-iT}^{\kappa-iT}\right) \frac{x^z dz}{z} = 0.$$

The third integral tends to 0 when K tends to infinity. Both integrals on the horizontal segments are majorised by $x^{\kappa}/(T|\log x|)$. This yields

$$\left|Y(x) - \frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{\kappa - iT}^{\kappa + iT} \frac{x^z dz}{z}\right| \le \frac{x^\kappa}{\pi T |\log x|} \quad (0 < x < 1).$$

The same upper bound holds when x > 1, which we prove as above but by shifting the integration line to the LHS. These bounds are efficient when $T|\log x|$ is large enough; otherwise we write

$$\int_{\kappa-iT}^{\kappa+iT} \frac{x^z dz}{z} = x^{\kappa} \int_{\kappa-iT}^{\kappa+iT} \frac{dz}{z} + x^{\kappa} \int_{-T}^{T} \frac{(x^{it}-1)idt}{\kappa+it}.$$

The first integral takes value $2 \arctan(T/\kappa) \leq \pi$ while we use

$$\left|\frac{x^{it} - 1}{it \log x}\right| = \left|\int_0^1 e^{iut \log x} du\right| \le 1$$

for the second one. This enables us to bound it by $2T |\log x|$ (even if x = 1), and thus

$$\left|\frac{1}{2i\pi}\int_{\kappa-iT}^{\kappa+iT}\frac{x^{z}dz}{z}\right| \leq \frac{x^{\kappa}}{\pi}\left(\frac{\pi}{2}+T|\log x|\right).$$

This is enough when x < 1. When x > 1, we note that

$$1 - \frac{x^{\kappa}}{2i\pi} \int_{\kappa-iT}^{\kappa+iT} \frac{dz}{z} = 1 - \frac{x^{\kappa}}{\pi} \arctan(T/\kappa)$$

which is $\geq -x^{\kappa}/2$ and $\leq 1 \leq x^{\kappa}$. In conclusion we have proved that

$$\left|Y(x) - \frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{\kappa - iT}^{\kappa + iT} \frac{x^z dz}{z}\right| \le \frac{x^\kappa}{\pi} \min\left(\pi + T|\log x|, \frac{1}{T|\log x|}\right).$$

In order to simplify this bound, let us note that

$$\min(\pi + u, 1/u) \le \min(\alpha, 1/u)$$

where $\alpha = 1/u_0 = \pi + u_0$. Since $\alpha \le 7/2$, the Lemma is proved.

We deduce from the previous Lemma the following classical formula.

Theorem 3.1 (Truncated Perron summation formula). Let $F(z) = \sum_{n} a_n/n^z$ be a Dirichlet series absolutely convergent for $\Re z > \kappa_a$, and let $\kappa > \kappa_a$. When $x \ge 1$ and $T \ge 1$, we have

$$\sum_{n \le x} a_n = \frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{\kappa-iT}^{\kappa+iT} F(z) \frac{x^z dz}{z} + \mathcal{O}^* \left(\int_{1/T}^{\infty} \sum_{|\operatorname{Log}(x/n)| \le u} \frac{|a_n|}{n^{\kappa}} \frac{2x^{\kappa} du}{Tu^2} \right).$$

February 12, 2010

The Theorem in this form comes from (Ramaré, 2007).

In this formula, the error term is essentially raw. Let us note that the range of summation in

$$\sum_{|\log(x/n)| \le u} |a_n| / n^{\kappa}$$

can be rather short. The interval in n can be rewritten as $e^{-u}x \le n \le e^u x$. When $u \ge 1$, the upper bound $\sum_{n>1} |a_n|/n^{\kappa}$ is usually enough. When u is smaller, we will normally use a bound of the shape $ux^{\kappa_a}B/x^{\kappa}$ for some decent B (a constant times $\log x$ for instance), leading to the error term

$$\mathcal{O}\left(\frac{Bx^{\kappa_a} \log T}{T} + \frac{x^{\kappa}}{T} \sum_{n \ge 1} |a_n| / n^{\kappa}\right).$$

Notice further that the shorter sums we will have to consider are of size $\simeq x/T$.

Proof. We start Lemma 3.4 and write

$$\sum_{n \le x} a_n = \sum_{n \ge 1} a_n Y(x/n) = \sum_{n \ge 1} a_n \frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{\kappa - iT}^{\kappa + iT} \frac{(x/n)^z dz}{z} + \mathcal{O}^* \left(\sum_{n \ge 1} \frac{|a_n| x^\kappa}{\pi n^\kappa} \min\left(\frac{7}{2}, \frac{1}{T|\operatorname{Log}(x/n)|}\right) \right).$$

Let us set $\varepsilon = 1/T$. We keep the contribution to the error term of the integers n such that $|\operatorname{Log}(x/n)| \leq \varepsilon$ as such. Otherwise, we write

$$\sum_{\varepsilon \le |\log(x/n)|} \frac{|a_n|x^{\kappa}}{n^{\kappa} |\log(x/n)|} = \sum_{\varepsilon \le |\log(x/n)|} \frac{|a_n|x^{\kappa}}{n^{\kappa}} \int_{|\log(x/n)|}^{\infty} \frac{du}{u^2}$$
$$= \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} \sum_{|\log(x/n)| \le u} \frac{|a_n|x^{\kappa}}{n^{\kappa}} \frac{du}{u^2} - \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} \sum_{|\log(x/n)| \le \varepsilon} \frac{|a_n|x^{\kappa}}{n^{\kappa}} \frac{du}{u^2}$$
hich is enough.

which is enough.

To see the relative strength of this Theorem, let us try to compute the number of integers not more that x ... The generating series is of course the Riemann ζ function which has $\kappa_a = 1$. We select $\kappa = 1 + 1/\log x$ and reach the error term $\mathcal{O}(\log(xT)/T)$ provided $T \leq x$. Concerning the integral, we shift the line of integration to the line $\kappa = 0$ where $\zeta(it)$ is $\mathcal{O}(\sqrt{|t|+2} \operatorname{Log}(|t|+2))$. This finally gives us

$$\sum_{n \le x} 1 = x + \mathcal{O}\left(\sqrt{T} \log T + x \log(xT)/T\right).$$

On taking $T = x^{2/3}$, we reach an error term of size ... $x^{1/3} \log x$. This will help the reader getting an idea of the loss incurred in using the Perron formula, since the error term $\mathcal{O}(1)$ is here possible. One can in fact get $\mathcal{O}_{\varepsilon}(x^{\varepsilon})$ for every $\varepsilon > 0$ by using a smoothed sum instead of truncing brutally at $n \leq x$. The reader will find in (Ramaré, 2007) a way to reduce this error term to a power of logarithm.

The loss is however largely compensated by the fact that we can now use informations on the Mellin transforms of our initial sequence.

3.4 Expressing ψ in terms of $\zeta'(s)/\zeta(s)$

We have defined the Tchebyschef function ϑ but it is easier to work with a different function, namely

$$\psi(x) = \sum_{n \le x} \Lambda(n). \tag{3.3}$$

We express it in terms of its Mellin transform via Theorem 3.1 and this yields:

$$\psi(x) = \frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{\sigma_0 - iT}^{\sigma_0 + iT} \frac{-\zeta'(s)}{\zeta(s)} \frac{x^s}{s} ds + \mathcal{O}(xT^{-1}\log^2 x)$$
(3.4)

provided $2 \le T \le x/2$ and with

$$\sigma_0 = 1 + (\log x)^{-1}. \tag{3.5}$$

Proof. In Theorem 3.1, we take $\kappa = \sigma_0$ and notice that $\kappa_a = 1$. Let us study the error term, i.e. let us find an upper bound for

$$I = \int_{1/T}^{\infty} \sum_{|\log(x/n)| \le u} \frac{\Lambda(n)}{n^{\kappa}} \frac{2x^{\kappa} du}{Tu^2} = \int_{1/T}^{1} \dots + \int_{1}^{\infty} \dots = I_1 + I_2$$

say. In case of I_1 , the range of summation reads $e^{-u}x \le n \le e^u x$. Note that $e^{-u} \ge 1 - u$ for u, and thus $e^{-u}x \ge x - (x/T) \ge x/2$. As a consequence, $n^{\kappa} \gg x$ in this range of n (and while $1/T \le u \le 1$). The integer n runs over an interval of length^{*} $(e^u - e^{-u})x \le 3ux$. Thus

$$\sum_{\operatorname{Log}(x/n)|\leq u} \frac{\Lambda(n)}{n^{\kappa}} \ll \frac{\operatorname{Log} x}{x} (ux+1) \ll u \operatorname{Log} x.$$

[†] As a consequence

$$I_1 \ll \int_{1/T}^1 \frac{xu \log x}{Tu^2} du \ll \frac{x \log^2 x}{T}.$$

The treatment of I_2 is easier since we simply say that

$$\sum_{\operatorname{Log}(x/n)|\leq u} \frac{\Lambda(n)}{n^{\kappa}} \leq \sum_{n\geq 1} \frac{\Lambda(n)}{n^{\kappa}} = \frac{-\zeta'(\kappa)}{\zeta(\kappa)} \ll 1/(\kappa-1) = \operatorname{Log} x.$$

The claimed expression follows readily.

L

^{*}The function sh is convex for $u \ge 0$. This gives us $(\operatorname{sh} u)/u \le (\operatorname{sh} 1)/1$, hence the inequality. We can replace the constant 3 by $2 \operatorname{sh} 1$.

[†]The number of integer points in an interval of length $\mathcal{O}(ux)$ is $\mathcal{O}(ux+1)$ and this is $\mathcal{O}(ux)$ here.

Chapter 4

The local method of Landau et alia

We shall require some facts on the analytic continuation of the Riemann zeta function and most of them are recalled in the next chapter. As it turns out, the bound $|-\zeta'/\zeta(s)| \ll \log |\Im s|$ valid when $|\Im s| \geq 2$ and $|1 - \Re s| \log |\Im s|$ is small enough will be of particular importance. We take this opportunity to develop some material and to expand on the historical side.

4.1 The Borel-Caratheodory Theorem

The Borel-Caratheodory Theorem which bounds the modulus of an analytic function in term of a bound for its real part is of fundamental importance in what follows. Caratheodory did not publish it anywhere: Landau says he owns a series a results in this vein from letters exchanged with him. See in particular (Landau, 1908, Satz I, section 5) and (Landau, 1926, Lemma 1). (Titchmarsh, 1932, section 5.5) attributes this Theorem to (Borel, 1897, page 365)^{*} and to Caratheodory.

Theorem 4.1 (Borel-Caratheodory). Let F be an analytic function on $|s - s_0| \le R$ such that $\Re F(s) \le A$ in this disc. For any r < R, positive, we have

$$\max_{|s-s_0| \le r} |F(s) - F(s_0)| \le \frac{Ar}{R-r}$$

and, for any $k \geq 1$,

$$\max_{|s-s_0| \le r} |F^{(k)}(s)| \le \frac{2k!R}{(R-r)^{k+1}} (A - \Re F(s_0)).$$

In fact (Landau, 1908, Satz I, section 5) has a slightly distinct version of the upper bound. See also (Titchmarsh, 1932, section 5.51), where the author follows roughly Landau's proof. This latter one relies on Schwarz's Lemma, though Landau does not cite the later (the proof is anyway quite obvious). I do not know whether Schwarz has anteriority or not. The proof we follow here is essentially the one due Borel, and can be found in (Tenenbaum, 1995, Theorem 11 and corollaries).

^{*}Note that this proof has to be somewhat modified to meet our needs.

Proof. R We can assume with no loss of generality that $s_0 = 0$ and that $F(s_0) = 0$ (otherwise consider $F(s) - F(s_0)$). Note that under these assumptions, the corresponding A, namely $A - \Re F(s_0)$ is non-negative. We expand F is power series:

$$F(s) = \sum_{n \ge 1} a_n s^n$$

and write $a_n = |a_n|e^{i\theta_n}$. We have

$$\Re F(Re^{i\theta}) = \sum_{n \ge 1} |a_n| R^n \cos(n\theta + \theta_n).$$

We multiply this expression by $\cos(m\theta + \theta_m)$ and integrate it termwise to get

$$\pi |a_m| R^m = \int_0^{2\pi} \Re F(Re^{i\theta}) \cos(m\theta + \theta_m) d\theta.$$

When m = 0, this reads

$$0 = \int_0^{2\pi} \Re F(Re^{i\theta}) d\theta$$

which we combine with the above to obtain

$$\pi |a_m| R^m = \int_0^{2\pi} \Re F(Re^{i\theta}) (1 + \cos(m\theta + \theta_m)) d\theta \le 2\pi (A - \Re F(s_0)).$$

This readily yields, when $k \ge 1$,

$$|F^{(k)}(re^{i\theta})| \leq \sum_{n \geq k} n(n-1)\cdots(n-k+1)|a_n|r^{n-k}$$

$$\leq \frac{2(A - \Re F(s_0))}{R^k} \sum_{n \geq k} n(n-1)\cdots(n-k+1)(r/R)^{n-k} = 2\frac{Rk!(A - \Re F(s_0))}{(R-r)^{k+1}}.$$

When k = 0, we use the additional fact that $a_0 = 0$ to get the claimed bound.

4.2 The Landau local method

The proof and the statement of the following Lemma has taken some years to find a proper shape. One can find traces of it in (Landau, 1908), between equations (92) and (93), see the definition of F. It will evolve until (Landau, 1926, Lemma 1) to yield a bound on $\zeta'/\zeta(s)$ next to the line $\Re s = 1$. At the time, Gronwall and Landau were improving each other's bound. See also (Titchmarsh, 1951, section 3.9, Lemma α).

The circle of ideas we present below belongs to this realm.

Lemma 4.1. Let M be an upper bound for the holomorphic function F in $|s - s_0| \leq R$. Assume we know of a lower bound m > 0 for $|F(s_0)|$. Then

$$\frac{F'(s)}{F(s)} = \sum_{|\rho-s_0| \le R/2} \frac{1}{s-\rho} + \mathcal{O}^*\left(16\frac{\operatorname{Log}(M/m)}{R}\right)$$

for every s such that $|s - s_0| \leq R/4$ and where the summation variable ρ ranges the zeros ρ of F in the region $|\rho - s_0| \leq R/2$, repeated according to multiplicity.

This Lemma will be our main tool in what follows. The reader should look at the very interesting section 3 of (Heath-Brown, 1992a), and more precisely to (Heath-Brown, 1992a, Lemma 3.2). An expression for the real part of F'(s)/F(s) in terms of the possible zeros is obtained there. In fact, the proof therein contains an expression for F'(s)/F(s), but it seems necessary to take the real part to bound it solely in term of M/m (notations as above). See however subsection 4.4.3 of this chapter.

See also (Heath-Brown, 1992b) as well as (Ford, 2000, Lemma 2.1 and Lemma 2.2).

Proof. Let us consider

$$G(s) = \frac{F(s)}{\prod_{|\rho-s_0| \le R/2} (s-\rho)}$$

When $|s - s_0| = R$, we have $|s - \rho| \ge |s - s_0| - |\rho - s_0| \ge R/2 \ge |\rho - s_0|$ for the zeros under consideration, and thus, by the maximum principle, when $|s - s_0| \le R$, we have

$$\left|\frac{G(s)}{G(s_0)}\right| = \left|\frac{F(s)}{F(s_0)}\prod_{|\rho-s_0|\le R/2}\frac{s_0-\rho}{s-\rho}\right| \le M/m.$$

Since this function has no zeros inside $|s - s_0| \leq R/2$, we can write

$$G(s)/G(s_0) = e^{H(s)} \quad (|s - s_0| \le R/2)$$

for an analytic function H that verifies $H(s_0) = 0$. Furthermore $\Re H(s) \leq \operatorname{Log}(M/m)$. By the Borel-Caratheodory Theorem, we deduce that

$$\left|\frac{G'(s)}{G(s)}\right| = |H'(s)| \le \frac{8R}{(R-2r)^2} \operatorname{Log}(M/m) \quad (|s-s_0| \le r < R/2).$$

We have thus proved our assertion.

4.3 Consequence for the Riemann zeta function

Here is the main consequence of Lemma 4.1:

Lemma 4.2. Let $t_0 \ge 4$. We have

$$\frac{\zeta'(s)}{\zeta(s)} = \sum_{|\rho-1-it_0| \le 1} \frac{1}{s-\rho} + \mathcal{O}(\log t_0) \quad (|s-1-it_0| \le 1/2)$$
(4.1)

We use $F = \zeta$, $s_0 = 1 + it_0$ and R = 2 We only have to get some polynomial upper bound for $|\zeta(s)|$ when $-1 \leq \Re s \leq 3$ and $\Im s \geq 2$, as well as a lower bound for $|\zeta(s_0)|$. Concerning the upper bound, here is an expedient way to get one:

$$\zeta(s) = s \int_{1}^{\infty} [t] \frac{dt}{t^{s+1}} = \frac{s}{s-1} - \frac{1}{2} - s \int_{1}^{\infty} B_1(t) \frac{dt}{t^{s+1}}$$

Local models and pseudo-characters

February 12, 2010

where [t] denotes the integer part of t, $\{t\}$ its fractional part, and $B_1(t)$ is the first Bernoulli function, defined by $B_1(t) = \{t\} - \frac{1}{2}$. We consider the higher order Bernoulli functions, B_2 and B_3 :

$$\frac{1}{2}B_2(t) = \int_1^t B_1(u)du + \frac{1}{12} = \frac{1}{2}\{t\}^2 - \frac{1}{2}\{t\} + \frac{1}{12}$$

This function is periodical of period 1 when $t \ge 1$ and has mean value 0 over a period (i.e. $\int_1^2 B_2(u) du = 0$). As a consequence

$$\frac{1}{3}B_3(t) = \int_1^t B_2(u)du = \frac{1}{3}\{t\}^3 - \frac{1}{2}\{t\}^2 + \frac{1}{6}\{t\}$$

is bounded. As it turns out, it is also of zero mean value over a period. Here is why we have introduced this set of functions:

$$\begin{aligned} \zeta(s) &= \frac{s}{s-1} - \frac{1}{2} - s \int_{1}^{\infty} B_{1}(t) \frac{dt}{t^{s+1}} \\ &= \frac{s}{s-1} - \frac{1}{2} + \frac{s}{12} + \frac{s(s+1)}{2} \int_{1}^{\infty} B_{2}(t) \frac{dt}{t^{s+2}} \\ &= \frac{s}{s-1} - \frac{1}{2} + \frac{s}{12} - \frac{s(s+1)(s+2)}{6} \int_{1}^{\infty} B_{3}(t) \frac{dt}{t^{s+3}} \end{aligned}$$

which gives us an expression of the continuation of ζ to $\Re s > -2$. In particular, when $|s| \ge 2$ and $\Re s \ge -1$, we find that

$$|\zeta(s)| \le \frac{13}{12}|s| + \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{20}\frac{|s|^3}{2} \le \frac{2}{5}|s|^3.$$

Better bounds are available (in fact, $|\zeta(s)| \ll |s|^{3/2}$ under our conditions), but this will be enough for us.

We also need a lower bound for $1/|\zeta(1+it_0)|$. This is readily obtained as follows. We can modify the above proof to show that

$$|\zeta'(s)| \ll (\operatorname{Log} t)^2 \quad (\Re s \ge 1, t = \Im s \ge 2).$$

We use this bound to shift $\zeta(1 + it_0)$ to $\zeta(\sigma + it_0)$ at a cost of $\mathcal{O}((\sigma - 1)(\log t_0)^2)$. We next recall the classical Mertens's inequality^{*}:

$$1 \le |\zeta(\sigma)|^3 |\zeta(\sigma + it_0)|^4 |\zeta(\sigma + 2it_0)|.$$

$$0 \leq 3\Re \frac{-\zeta'}{\zeta}(\sigma) + 4\Re \frac{-\zeta'}{\zeta}(\sigma + it_0) + \Re \frac{-\zeta'}{\zeta}(\sigma + 2it_0).$$

Integrating this inequality in σ between σ_0 and ∞ yields the desired result. Alternatively, one could use directly the Dirichlet expansion of $\log \zeta$, which also has non-negative coefficients.

^{*}To prove it, notice that $-\zeta'/\zeta$ has a Dirichlet expansion with non-negative coefficients. Since $3 + 4\cos\theta + \cos(2\theta) = 2(1 + \cos\theta)^2 \ge 0$, we find that

Since $|\zeta(\sigma)| \ll 1/(\sigma-1)$ and $|\zeta(\sigma+2it_0)| \ll \log t_0$, we get

$$(\sigma - 1)^{3/4} (\operatorname{Log} t_0)^{-1/4} \ll |\zeta(\sigma + it_0)|.$$

We then take $\sigma = 1 + C(\log t_0)^{-9}$ for a large enough constant C and get

$$|\zeta(\sigma + it_0)| \gg 1/(\operatorname{Log} t_0)^7.$$

This is an apriori bound that is enough for our purpose, but much better is known.

The reader has now all the elements to end the proof of Lemma 4.2. Note that the proof of

$$\frac{\zeta'(s)}{\zeta(s)} = \sum_{|\rho - 1 - (\operatorname{Log} t_0)^{-1} - it_0| \le 1} \frac{1}{s - \rho} + \mathcal{O}(\operatorname{Log} t_0) \quad (|s - 1 - it_0| \le 1/2)$$

would have been slightly simpler since the bound

$$|\zeta(1 + (\log t_0)^{-1} + it_0)|^{-1} \le |\zeta(1 + (\log t_0)^{-1})| \ll (\log t_0)$$

would have been enough. It is however simply easier to write down the expression we have chosen!

4.4 Bounding $|\zeta'/\zeta|$ next to the line $\Re s = 1$

We do not reproduce here a proof of a zero-free region, though we have all the ingredients, but we content ourselves with citing (Kadiri, 2005):

Theorem 4.2 (Kadiri). The Riemann ζ -function has no zeros in the region

$$\Re s \ge 1 - \frac{1}{R_0 \log |\Im s|}, |\Im s| \ge 2, \quad with \ R_0 = 5.69693.$$

The proof of this result is very intricate, but it is fairly easy to get a similar result with a much larger value of R_0 , and even easier to prove it without specifying any admissible value for R_0 .

Let s be in the region

$$\Re s \ge 1 - \frac{1}{2R_0 \log(1 + |\Im s|)}, \quad |\Im s| \ge 2.$$
 (4.2)

Lemma 4.3. We have

 $\left|\zeta'/\zeta(s)\right| \ll \log t$

when $\Re s \ge 1 - \frac{1}{2R_0}(1 + \log t)^{-1}$ where $R_0 > 0$ is the constant of the zero free region given in Theorem 4.2.

Local models and pseudo-characters

There exists essentially three ways to bound $\zeta'/\zeta(s)$ when $s = \sigma + it_0$ is well within the zero free region, i.e. in the region given by (4.2). One is due to Landau, another one to Linnik and a third one to Titchmarsh. We present the three of them. Let us set

$$s_1 = 1 + \frac{4}{R_0 \log(1 + t_0)}.$$

We apply Lemma 4.2 to s and s_1 and substract:

$$\frac{\zeta'}{\zeta}(s) - \frac{\zeta'}{\zeta}(s_1) = \sum_{\rho} \frac{s - s_1}{(s - \rho)(s_1 - \rho)} + \mathcal{O}(\operatorname{Log} t_0)$$
(4.3)

When s in the region given by (4.2), we have, for any zero $\rho = \beta + i\gamma$ verifying $|s - \rho| \le 1$,

$$(1 - \frac{1}{3})(1 - \beta) \ge \frac{1 - \frac{1}{3}}{R_0 \operatorname{Log}(1 + t_0)} \ge \frac{1}{3}(\sigma_1 - 1) + (1 - \sigma)$$

and thus $\sigma - \beta \ge (\sigma_1 - \beta)/3$. As a consequence

$$\left|\sum_{\rho} \frac{s - s_1}{(s - \rho)(s_1 - \rho)}\right| \ll \sum_{\rho} \frac{1/\log t_0}{|s_1 - \rho|^2}.$$

4.4.1 Landau's way

(Landau, 1926, Hilfsatz 1) remarks that

$$\sum_{\rho} \frac{1/\log t_0}{|s_1 - \rho|^2} \ll \sum_{\rho} \frac{\sigma_1 - \beta}{|s_1 - \rho|^2} = \sum_{\rho} \Re \frac{1}{s_1 - \rho} = \Re \frac{\zeta'}{\zeta}(s_1) + \mathcal{O}(\log t_0).$$

Note that $\Re \frac{\zeta'}{\zeta}(s_1) < 0$ (a fact that Landau does not use). But to end the proof, we will anyway have to use

$$\left|\frac{\zeta'}{\zeta}(s_1)\right| \le \left|\frac{\zeta'}{\zeta}(\sigma_1)\right| \ll \operatorname{Log} t_0.$$

4.4.2 Linnik's way

(Linnik, 1944a) proposes a different conclusion that shed some more lights as to what happens. This is the one followed in (Ramaré, 2009). We first deduce from the above Linnik's density Lemma:

Lemma 4.4. Let $n(t_0; r)$ be the number of zeros ρ of ζ such that $|\rho - 1 - it_0| \leq r$. We have

$$n(t_0; r) \ll 1 + r \operatorname{Log} t_0.$$

Proof. Assume r > 0. We use the formula (4.1) with $s = 1 + r + it_0$ and take real part. We get

$$\sum_{|\rho-1-it_0| \le 1} \frac{1+r-\beta}{|s-\rho|^2} \ll r^{-1} + \log t_0$$

by using

$$|\zeta'/\zeta(s)| \le -\zeta'/\zeta(1+r) \ll r^{-1}.$$

We can discard any zeros, by positivity, from the left and thus restrict the summation to the zeros counted in $n(t_0; r)$. Note that

$$\frac{1+r-\beta}{|s-\rho|^2} = \frac{r}{(1-\beta+r)^2 + (\gamma-t_0)^2} \ge \frac{r}{2(1-\beta)^2 + 2r^2 + (\gamma-t_0)^2} \ge \frac{r}{4r^2} = \frac{1}{4r}.$$
 Lemma follows readily.

The Lemma follows readily.

Proof of Lemma 4.3 by Linnik. We again exploit (4.3) but we now remark that $|s - \rho| \gg$ $|1 + it_0 - \rho|$ and that $|s_1 - \rho| \gg |1 + it_0 - \rho|$. Thus

$$(\operatorname{Log} t_0) \left| \frac{\zeta'(s)}{\zeta(s)} - \frac{\zeta'(s_1)}{\zeta(s_1)} \right| \ll \sum_{|\rho - 1 - it_0| \le 1} \frac{1}{|1 + it_0 - \rho|^2}$$

Let us use diadic decomposition on this last sum. Set $r_k = 2^k/(R_0 \log(t_0 + 1))$ when $k \geq 0$, so that:

$$\sum_{|\rho-1-it_0|\leq 1} \frac{1}{|1+it_0-\rho|^2} = \sum_{k\geq 0} \sum_{r_k<|\rho-1-it_0|\leq r_{k+1}} \frac{1}{|1+it_0-\rho|^2} \\ \ll \sum_{k\geq 0} \sum_{r_k<|\rho-1-it_0|\leq r_{k+1}} \frac{1+r_{k+1}\operatorname{Log} t_0}{r_k^2} \ll \sum_{k\geq 0} \frac{(\operatorname{Log} t_0)^2}{2^k} \ll (\operatorname{Log} t_0)^2.$$

We conclude the proof as before.

Titchmarsh's way 4.4.3

(Titchmarsh, 1951, Lemma γ , section 3.9) uses yet another way: first get an upper bound for $-\Re\zeta'(s)/\zeta(s)$ and then apply the Borel-Caratheodory Theorem to this function.

4.5Bounding $|1/\zeta|$ next to the line $\Re s = 1$

The analytical upper bound we produce for the mean of the Barban & Vehov weights relies on a lower bound for $|\zeta(s)|$ when s is in the vicinity of the line $\Re s = 1$. This is again a consequence our upper bound for $|-\zeta'/\zeta(s)|$. The reader will first notice that it is obvious when $\Re s \ge 1 + 1/(\log 2 + |\Im s|)$. Otherwise, let $s = \sigma_0 + it_0$ be in the region given by (4.2). We have

$$\operatorname{Log} \frac{\zeta(\sigma_0 + it_0)}{\zeta(\sigma_1 + it_0)} = \int_{\sigma_1}^{\sigma_0} \frac{\zeta'}{\zeta} (\sigma + it_0) d\sigma$$

with $\sigma_1 = 1 + (\log t_0)^{-1} + it_0$. We bound the integrand by $\mathcal{O}(\log t_0)$, and thus, on taking real parts:

$$\log |\zeta(\sigma_0 + it_0)| = \log |\zeta(\sigma_1 + it_0)| + \mathcal{O}(1). \quad (t_0 \ge 2)$$
(4.4)

Local models and pseudo-characters

February 12, 2010

The right-hand side is $\leq \text{Log} \log t_0 + \mathcal{O}(1)$ in absolute value, hence our bound for $1/|\zeta(\sigma_0 + it_0)|$. Note that we could have taken real parts earlier and thus relied only on an upper bound for $-\Re\zeta'/\zeta(s)^*$.

4.6 Some other consequences

As a matter of fact, (4.4) gives more information than just a lower bound. Let us start by recalling the following Lemma, which is a direct consequence of (Montgomery & Vaughan, 1974, Corollary 2).

Lemma 4.5.

$$\int_{0}^{T} \left| \sum_{n} a_{n} n^{it} \right|^{2} dt = \sum_{n} |a_{n}|^{2} \left(T + \mathcal{O}^{*}(3\pi n) \right).$$

Lemma 4.5 together with (4.4) lead directly to:

Lemma 4.6. Let $T \ge 2$ and $\sigma \ge 1 - (12 \log(1+T))^{-1}$. We have

$$\int_1^T |\zeta(\sigma + it)|^{\pm 1} dt \asymp T, \quad \int_1^T |\zeta(\sigma + it)|^{\pm 2} dt \asymp T.$$

Proof. We use (4.4) with $\sigma_0 = \sigma$ and σ_1 . This leads immediately to

$$\int_0^T |\zeta(\sigma + it)|^{\pm 1} dt \asymp \int_0^T |\zeta(\sigma_1 + it)|^{\pm 1} dt$$

and the same with $\pm 2.^{\dagger}$ By Cauchy inequality, we have

$$\left| \int_0^T |\zeta(\sigma_1 + it)|^{\pm 1} dt \right|^2 \le T \int_0^T |\zeta(\sigma_1 + it)|^{\pm 2} dt = T \sum_{n \ge 1} \frac{T + \mathcal{O}(n)}{n^{2\sigma_1}} \asymp T^2$$

by appealing to Lemma 4.5 below. Furthermore

$$\left|\int_{1}^{T} dt\right|^{2} \leq \int_{1}^{T} |\zeta(\sigma+it)| dt \int_{1}^{T} |\zeta(\sigma+it)|^{-1} dt$$

hence the lower bounds.

4.7 Better bounds

Using Vinogradov-Korobov - Full-fledged density estimates -

^{*}The minus sign is here because $\sigma_0 \leq \sigma_1$.

[†]Here \pm means we choose a sign + or – and stick to it on both sides of the relation.

Chapter 5

Some known facts about the Riemann zeta function

Theorem 5.1. There exists a positive constant $c_1 \leq 1/(2 \log 2)$ such that the Riemann zeta function has no zero in the region

$$\Re s \ge 1 - \frac{c_1}{\log(2 + |\Im s|)}$$

and further satisfies, for $s = \sigma + it$ in this region the following bounds:

$$\left|\frac{\zeta'}{\zeta}(s)\right| \ll \log(2+|t|), \quad \left|\zeta(s) - \frac{1}{s-1}\right| \ll \log(2+|t|), \quad |1/\zeta(s)| \ll \log(2+|t|).$$

The bound on c_1 ensures that the region given by this Theorem stays within the half plane $\Re s \geq 1/2$. It is even its sole purpose. See also (McCurley, 1984), (Kadiri, 2002), (Kadiri, 2005) and (Ford, 2000).

Note that this Theorem in particular yields the bounds

$$\left|\frac{\zeta'}{\zeta}(s)\right| \ll \log(2+|t|), \quad \left|\zeta(s) - \frac{1}{s-1}\right| \ll \log(2+|t|), \quad |1/\zeta(s)| \ll \log(2+|t|)$$

for any $\sigma \geq 1$. See also (Cheng & Graham, 2004) and (Cheng, 1999).

Theorem 5.2. We have, when $\sigma \geq 1/2$,

$$|\zeta(\sigma+it)| + |\zeta'(\sigma+it)| \ll (1+|t|)^{\frac{1}{6}-0.000001}.$$

Theorem 5.3. We have, when $\sigma \geq 0$,

$$|\zeta(\sigma + it)| \ll (1 + |t|)^{1/2} \operatorname{Log}(2 + |t|).$$
Barban & Vehov weights

While studying an optimisation problem close to the one that is the classical initial founding of the Selberg sieve for prime numbers, Barban & Vehov^{*} noticed in (Barban & Vehov, 1968) the property

$$\sum_{\substack{n \le N}} \left(\sum_{\substack{d|n, \\ d \le z}} \mu(d) \frac{\operatorname{Log}(z/d)}{\operatorname{Log} z} \right)^2 \ll N/\operatorname{Log} z.$$
(6.1)

They sketched a proof and later proofs were given later by Motohashi (in 1974, see (Motohashi, 1983)[section 1.3]) and (Graham, 1978). The novelty of this estimate is that no additionnal $+\mathcal{O}(z^2)$ arises, as it does when using a direct approach. This enables us to avoid the condition $N \geq z^2 \log z$.

The second novelty in (Barban & Vehov, 1968) comes from the fact that they consider the weight

$$\lambda_{d}^{(1)} = \begin{cases} \mu(d) & \text{when } d \le z, \\ \mu(d) \frac{\log(z^{2}/d)}{\log z} & \text{when } z < d \le z^{2}, \\ 0 & \text{when } z^{2} < d. \end{cases}$$
(6.2)

(They consider in fact slightly more general weights with a y instead of the z^2 that we use here). Motohashi (see (Motohashi, 1983, section 1.3)) and (Graham, 1978) continued this study. The Theorem we need is the following.

Theorem 6.1. We have, when $x \ge z \ge 2$,

$$\sum_{n \le x} \left(\sum_{d|n} \lambda_d^{(1)} \right)^2 / n \ll \frac{\log x}{\log z}.$$

When $x \leq z$, the sum simply vanishes for every summand does! We will use this Lemma with h(n) = 1 in which case $H(\omega) = \zeta(\omega) \ll 1/(\omega - 1)$ since ω is real and close to 1. The proof of this Theorem will be given at the end of chapter 7.

 $^{^*{\}rm For}$ a reason unknown to me but which stems almost surely from older transliteration rules, Vehov is spelled Vekhov in Zentralblatt

A reduction step

We can decompose the $\lambda_d^{(1)}$'s as follows

$$\lambda_d^{(1)} = \mu(d) \frac{\log(z^2/d)}{\log z} \, \mathbb{1}_{d \le z^2} - \mu(d) \frac{\log(z/d)}{\log z} \, \mathbb{1}_{d \le z}. \tag{6.3}$$

An analytical proof of Barban & Vehov bound

We have chosen to give an analytical proof of Theorem 6.1 that goes through Mellin transforms because of the flexibility of this method. This is very much the path followed by (Motohashi, 1978). We give full details.

7.1 A preliminary estimate

Lemma 7.1. The quantity $\mathfrak{M}_1(r, y, \omega)$ defined in (8.3) verifies

$$|\mathfrak{M}_1(r, y, \omega)| \ll \frac{r}{\phi(r)} \left(\sum_{d|r} \frac{\mu^2(d)}{\sqrt{d}} + \zeta^{-1}(\omega) \operatorname{Log} y \right)$$

as soon as $\omega \geq 1$. We understand $\zeta^{-1}(1)$ as being = 0.

Proof. On using Lemma 3.1, we get:

$$\mathfrak{M}_1(r, y, \omega) = \frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{2-i\infty}^{2+i\infty} \sum_{\substack{d \ge 1, \\ (d,r)=1}} \frac{\mu(d)}{d^{s+\omega}} \frac{y^s ds}{s^2} = \frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{2-i\infty}^{2+i\infty} \mathscr{H}_r(s+\omega) \frac{y^s ds}{\zeta(s+\omega)s^2}$$

where

$$\mathscr{H}_{r}(z) = \prod_{p|r} (1 - p^{-z})^{-1}.$$
(7.1)

We shift the line of integration to $\Re s = \sigma_1 = 1/\log z$. Let $c_1 > 0$ be the constant given by Theorem 5.1. We have by this Theorem

$$1/|\zeta(\sigma+it)| \le c_2 \log(2+|t|) \quad \text{pour} \quad \sigma \ge 1 - c_1 (\log(2+T))^{-1} \text{ et } |t| \le T.$$
(7.2)

We choose T = y (a much smaller value would do!) and modify our contour integration into the following one



where $\sigma_2 = 1 - \omega - c_1 (\text{Log}(2+T))^{-1}$ is $\geq -\omega - 1/2$ by the hypothesis on ω and c_1 . We meet a double pole at s = 0 which we will study later. In the half-plane $\Re z \geq \omega + \sigma_2$, we obviously have

$$|\mathscr{H}_r(z)| \le \prod_{p|r} (1-p^{-1/2})^{-1} = \mathscr{H}_r(1/2).$$

On each half-line from $\sigma_1 + iT$ to $\sigma_1 + i\infty$ and from $\sigma_1 - i\infty$ to $\sigma_1 - iT$, we bound above $1/|\zeta(s+\omega)|$ by $\zeta(\omega) \leq \omega/(\omega-1) \ll \log z$, so that the total contribution from these two half-lines is

$$\ll \mathscr{H}_r(1/2)(\operatorname{Log} z)/z \ll \mathscr{H}_r(1/2).$$

On the segment going from $\sigma_2 + iT$ to $\sigma_1 + iT$ and symmetrically from $\sigma_1 - iT$ to $\sigma_2 - iT$, we use $1/|\zeta(s+\omega)| \ll \log T = \log z$, which gives rise to a contribution of a same order as the preceding one,since x^s is here bounded. On the segment going from $\sigma_2 + i$ to $\sigma_2 + iT$ and from $\sigma_2 - iT$ to $\sigma_2 - i$, we bound above $1/|\zeta(s+\omega)|$ by Log(|t|+2) where $t = \Im s$. The factor y^s is again bounded, so that the contribution to the integral is

$$\ll \mathscr{H}_r(1/2)$$

The same upper bound holds true for the segments going from $\frac{1}{2} + i$ to $\sigma_2 + i$ and from $\sigma_2 - i$ to $\frac{1}{2} - i$ since this time, every factor save $\mathscr{H}_r(s + \omega)$ is bounded above by constants. We treat the contribution of the segment going from $\frac{1}{2} - i$ to $\frac{1}{2} + i$ in the same fashion.

Now that we have bounded the residual contribution, let us estimate the contribution of the double pole at s = 0. We have, near s = 0,

$$\mathscr{H}_r(s+\omega)\frac{x^s}{\zeta(s+\omega)} = \frac{\mathscr{H}_r(\omega)}{\zeta(\omega)} + \left(\frac{\mathscr{H}_r(\omega)}{\zeta(\omega)}\operatorname{Log} x + \frac{\mathscr{H}_r'(\omega)}{\zeta(\omega)} - \frac{\mathscr{H}_r(\omega)\zeta'(\omega)}{\zeta(\omega)^2}\right)s + \mathcal{O}(s^2)$$

so that the residue we are interested in reads

$$\Re(r,\omega,y) = \frac{\mathscr{H}_r(\omega)}{\zeta(\omega)} \operatorname{Log} y + \frac{\mathscr{H}_r'(\omega)}{\zeta(\omega)} - \frac{\mathscr{H}_r(\omega)\zeta'(\omega)}{\zeta(\omega)^2}.$$
(7.3)

We bound above $\mathscr{H}_r(\omega)$ by $\mathscr{H}_r(1) = r/\phi(r)$, and $-\zeta'(\omega)/\zeta(\omega)$ by $1/(\omega - 1)$ when y is large enough.

We still have to treat the derivative $\mathscr{H}'_r(\omega)$. We do so by looking at the logarithmic derivative

$$\frac{\mathscr{H}_r'(\omega)}{\mathscr{H}_r(\omega)} = -\sum_{p|r} \frac{\operatorname{Log} p}{p^{\omega} - 1}$$

whose absolute value is not more than $-\zeta'(\omega)/\zeta(\omega)$. As a consequence

$$|\Re(r,\omega,y)| \le \frac{r}{\phi(r)}((\omega-1)\log y+2).$$

We conclude by noticing that

$$\mathscr{H}_{r}(1/2) = \frac{r}{\phi(r)} \prod_{p|r} (1+p^{-1/2}) = \frac{r}{\phi(r)} \sum_{d|r} \mu^{2}(d) / \sqrt{d}$$
(7.4)

The lemma follows readily.

7.2 Proof of the main theorem

We start with a lemma.

Lemma 7.2. We have

$$\sum_{n \ge 1} \left(\sum_{\substack{d \mid n, \\ d \le y}} \mu(d) \operatorname{Log} \frac{y}{d} \right)^2 / n^{\omega} \ll \frac{\operatorname{Log} y}{\omega - 1}$$

as soon as $1 < \omega \le 1 + \frac{1}{2}(\operatorname{Log} y)^{-1}$.

Proof. Let us denote by S the quantity to evaluate. We expand the square and find that

$$S = \sum_{d_1, d_2 \le y} \frac{\mu(d_1) \log \frac{y}{d_1} \mu(d_2) \log \frac{y}{d_2}}{[d_1, d_2]^{\omega}} \zeta(\omega) = S_1 \zeta(\omega)$$

and we are left with bounding S_1 . We achieve that in two steps. First we use Selberg diagonalization process. We start by writing

$$S_1 = \sum_{d_1, d_2 \le y} \frac{\mu(d_1) \log \frac{y}{d_1} \ \mu(d_2) \log \frac{y}{d_2} \ (d_1, d_2)^{\omega}}{d_1^{\omega} d_2^{\omega}}.$$

*See (Ford, 2000, Lemma 2.3). This very same estimate has been proved before, but I forgot the reference \ldots

Local models and pseudo-characters

February 12, 2010

We next define

$$f_{\omega}(r) = \prod_{p|r} (p^{\omega} - 1)$$

so that, when d is squarefree, we have $d^{\omega} = (f_{\omega} \star 1)(d)$. From this we infer that

$$S_1 = \sum_{r \le y} \mu^2(r) \frac{f_\omega(r)}{r^{2\omega}} \mathfrak{M}_1(r, y/r, \omega)^2$$

by using the notations of Lemma 7.1. To use this Lemma, we bound $1/\zeta(\omega)$ by^{*} $\mathcal{O}(\omega-1)$ and this implies here that $\zeta(\omega)^{-1} \operatorname{Log}(y/r) \ll 1$. We thus get

$$|S_1| \ll \sum_{r \le y} \mu^2(r) \frac{f_{\omega}(r)}{r^{2\omega}} \Big(\frac{r}{\phi(r)} \sum_{d|r} \frac{\mu^2(d)}{\sqrt{d}}\Big)^2 \ll \sum_{r \le y} \frac{\mu^2(r)}{\phi(r)} \Big(\sum_{d|r} \frac{\mu^2(d)}{\sqrt{d}}\Big)^2$$

since, when r is squarefree,

$$\frac{f_{\omega}(r)}{r^{2\omega}} \left(\frac{r}{\phi(r)}\right)^2 = \prod_{p|r} \frac{p^{\omega} - 1}{p^{2\omega}} \frac{p^2}{(p-1)^2} \le \prod_{p|r} \frac{p-1}{p^2} \frac{p^2}{(p-1)^2} = \frac{1}{\phi(r)}.$$

By a routine calculation, we infer

$$|S_1| \ll \sum_{r \le y} \frac{\mu^2(r)}{\phi(r)} \sum_{d_1, d_2 \mid r} \frac{\mu^2(d_1)\mu^2(d_2)}{\sqrt{d_1 d_2}}$$
$$\ll \sum_{d_1, d_2 \le y} \frac{\mu^2(d_1)\mu^2(d_2)}{\sqrt{d_1 d_2}\phi([d_1, d_2])} \sum_{r \le y/[d_1 d_2]} \frac{\mu^2(r)}{\phi(r)} \ll \sum_{r \le y} \frac{\mu^2(r)}{\phi(r)} \ll \operatorname{Log} y$$

since, by multiplicativity,

$$\sum_{d_1,d_2 \ge 1} \frac{\mu^2(d_1)\mu^2(d_2)}{\sqrt{d_1 d_2}\phi([d_1,d_2])} = \prod_{p \ge 2} \sum_{\substack{\alpha,\beta \ge 0, \\ d_1 = p^{\alpha}, d_2 = p^{\beta}}} \frac{\mu^2(d_1)\mu^2(d_2)}{\sqrt{d_1 d_2}\phi([d_1,d_2])}$$
$$= \prod_{p \ge 2} \left(1 + \frac{2}{(p-1)\sqrt{p}} + \frac{1}{(p-1)p}\right) \ll 1.$$

We use $\zeta(\omega) \ll 1/(\omega - 1)$, and the Lemma follows readily

Here is what we were aiming at.

^{*}See (Bastien & Rogalski, 2002, Corollary 1) as well as (Ford, 2000, Lemma 2.3).

Proof of Theorem 6.1. We start with the decomposition (6.3). This leads us to^{*}

$$\begin{aligned} (\operatorname{Log} z)^2 \sum_{n \le x} \left(\sum_{d|n} \lambda_d^{(1)} \right)^2 / n &\le 2 \sum_{n \le x} \left(\sum_{\substack{d|n, \\ d \le z^2}} \mu(d) \operatorname{Log} \frac{z^2}{d} \right)^2 / n \\ &+ 2 \sum_{n \le x} \left(\sum_{\substack{d|n, \\ d \le z}} \mu(d) \operatorname{Log} \frac{z}{d} \right)^2 / n \end{aligned}$$

so that the result will be implied by the corresponding one on each summand, i.e., when $x \ge \sqrt{y}$,

$$\sum_{\substack{n \leq x} \\ d \leq y} \left(\sum_{\substack{d \mid n, \\ d \leq y}} \mu(d) \operatorname{Log} \frac{y}{d} \right)^2 / n \ll (\operatorname{Log} x)(\operatorname{Log} y)$$

which we now establish. We notice that

$$\sum_{n \le x} \Big(\sum_{\substack{d \mid n, \\ d \le y}} \mu(d) \operatorname{Log} \frac{y}{d} \Big)^2 / n \le e \sum_{n \le x} \Big(\sum_{\substack{d \mid n, \\ d \le y}} \mu(d) \operatorname{Log} \frac{y}{d} \Big)^2 / n^{\omega}$$

with $\omega = 1 + (\log x)^{-1}$. We can now drop the condition $n \leq x$ and apply Lemma 7.2. The Theorem follows readily.

7.3 An asymptotic formula

We have presented a proof as simple as possible, but it is important to know what is the best result one can expect. (Graham, 1978) also presents more complete asymptotic results. It is an easy task to modify[†] the proof we have presented of Lemma 7.1 to yield

$$\mathfrak{M}_1(r, y, \omega) = \mathfrak{R}(r, \omega, y) + \mathcal{O}\big(\mathscr{H}_r(1/2)\exp(-c\sqrt{\operatorname{Log}(y+2)})\big)$$
(7.5)

for some positive constant c and where \mathfrak{R} is defined at equation (7.3) and $\mathscr{H}_r(1/2)$ is given by (7.4). To do so, select

$$T = \exp(\sqrt{\log(z+2)}).$$

Note that $-\zeta'/\zeta^2(\omega)$ tends to 1 when ω tends to one, and this implies that

$$\Re(r, 1, y) = \mathscr{H}_r(1) = r/\phi(r).$$

Local models and pseudo-characters

^{*}via $|a+b|^2 \le 2(|a|^2+|b|^2)$

 $^{^{\}dagger}$ Since this part is reserved for more advanced readers, we shall give much less details concerning the evaluations.

An elementary proof of Barban & Vehov bound

We have introduced and studied the weights $\lambda_d^{(1)}$ in the preceding two chapters. We prove here a Lemma that is going to be a substitute for Lemma 7.1 by elementary means. The path taken is different from the one followed by (Graham, 1978) and bears similarities with (Granville & Ramaré, 1996, Lemme 10.2).

8.1 A general Theorem

The Theorem we now present is very efficient when the average mean of the non-negative multiplicative function g on the primes is close to constant. There are several version of it, the most precise one being due to (Halberstam & Richert, 1979). The one we give is a slight modification of the one proposed in (Tenenbaum, 1995) and comes from (Ramaré, 2009, Theorem 9.2).

The starting idea comes from the celebrated paper (Levin & Fainleib, 1967).

Theorem 8.1. Let $D \ge 2$ be a fixed real parameter. Assume that g is a non-negative multiplicative function and that

$$\sum_{\substack{p \ge 2, \nu \ge 1\\ p^{\nu} \le Q}} g(p^{\nu}) \operatorname{Log}(p^{\nu}) \le KQ + K' \qquad (\forall Q \in [1, D])$$

for two constants $K, K' \geq 0$. Then

$$\sum_{d \le D} g(d) \le (K+1) \frac{D}{\log D - K'} \sum_{d \le D} g(d)/d$$

whenever $D > \exp K'$.

Proof. Let us define $G(D) = \sum_{d \leq D} g(d)$ and $\tilde{G}(D) = \sum_{d \leq D} g(d)/d$. On using $\text{Log } \frac{D}{d} \leq \frac{D}{d}$, we get

$$G(D) \operatorname{Log} D = \sum_{d \le D} g(d) \operatorname{Log} \frac{D}{d} + \sum_{d \le D} g(d) \operatorname{Log} d$$
$$\leq D \sum_{d \le D} \frac{g(d)}{d} + \sum_{\substack{p \ge 2, \nu \ge 1\\ p^{\nu} \le D}} g(p^{\nu}) \operatorname{Log} \left(p^{\nu}\right) \sum_{\substack{\ell \le D/p^{\nu}\\ (\ell, p) = 1}} g(\ell).$$

The second summand has been obtained by using

$$\operatorname{Log} d = \sum_{p^{\nu} \parallel d} \operatorname{Log}(p^{\nu}).$$

Finaly

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\substack{p \geq 2, \nu \geq 1 \\ p^{\nu} \leq D}} g\left(p^{\nu}\right) \mathrm{Log}\left(rp^{\nu}\right) \sum_{\substack{\ell \leq D/p^{\nu} \\ (\ell, p) = 1}} g(\ell) = \sum_{\ell \leq D} g(\ell) \sum_{\substack{p \geq 2, \nu \geq 1 \\ p^{\nu} \leq D/\ell \\ (p, \ell) = 1}} g\left(p^{\nu}\right) \mathrm{Log}\left(p^{\nu}\right) \\ \leq \sum_{\ell \leq D} g(\ell) K \frac{D}{\ell} \end{split}$$

and the Theorem follows readily.

8.2 Preliminary Lemmas

Here are the Lemmas on which the method relies.

Lemma 8.1. We have, for any $\eta \geq 0$,

$$\sum_{p \le x} \frac{1}{p^{1+\eta}} = (1+\eta) \operatorname{Log} \frac{1-2^{-\eta}}{1-x^{-\eta}} + \mathcal{O}(1).$$

Proof. A partial summation readily yields

$$\sum_{p \le x} \frac{1}{p^{1+\eta}} = (1+\eta) \int_2^x \sum_{p \le x} \frac{1}{t^{2+\eta}} + \mathcal{O}(1/\log x)$$
$$= (1+\eta) \int_2^x \frac{dt}{t^{1+\eta}\log t} + \mathcal{O}(1) = -(1+\eta) \int_{x^{-\eta}}^{2^{-\eta}} \frac{du}{\log u} + \mathcal{O}(1)$$

by* setting $u = t^{-\eta}$. We continue:

$$\sum_{p \le x} \frac{1}{p^{1+\eta}} = -(1+\eta) \int_{x^{-\eta}}^{2^{-\eta}} \frac{du}{u-1} - (1+\eta) \int_{x^{-\eta}}^{2^{-\eta}} \left(\frac{1}{\log u} - \frac{1}{u-1}\right) du + \mathcal{O}(1)$$
$$= (1+\eta) \log \frac{1-2^{-\eta}}{1-x^{-\eta}} + \mathcal{O}(1)$$

 $^{\ast} \rm We$ could dispense with the prime number Theorem

as announced.

Lemma 8.2. Let $c \ge 0$ be a constant. When $c(\operatorname{Log} x)^{-1} \ge \varepsilon \ge 0$ and $r \ge 1$, we have

$$\sum_{\substack{n \le x} \\ (d,r)=1} \sum_{\substack{d \mid n, \\ (d,r)=1}} \mu(d) (n/d)^{\varepsilon} \ll \frac{x}{\operatorname{Log} x}.$$

Proof. The multiplicative function to study can also be written as

$$g_{\varepsilon}(n) = \prod_{\substack{p^{\nu} || n, \\ p \nmid r}} (p^{\nu \varepsilon} - p^{(\nu-1)\varepsilon}) \prod_{\substack{p^{\nu} || n, \\ p | r}} p^{\nu \varepsilon} = n^{\varepsilon} \prod_{\substack{p^{\nu} || n, \\ p \nmid r}} (1 - p^{-\varepsilon}).$$

We use Theorem 8.1 with $g = g_{\varepsilon}$ and D = x. We have to bound, when $Q \leq x$,

$$\sum_{\substack{p^{\nu} \leq Q, \\ p \mid r}} p^{\nu \varepsilon} \operatorname{Log}(p^{\nu}) + \sum_{\substack{p^{\nu} \leq Q, \\ p \nmid r}} p^{\nu \varepsilon} (1 - p^{-\varepsilon}) \operatorname{Log}(p^{\nu}) \leq e^{c} \sum_{\substack{p^{\nu} \leq Q}} \operatorname{Log}(p^{\nu}) \ll Q$$

as required. We get

$$\sum_{n \le x} g_{\varepsilon}(n) \ll \frac{x}{\log x} \sum_{n \le x} g_{\varepsilon}(n) / n \ll \frac{x}{\log x} \sum_{n \subset P(x)} \frac{g_{\varepsilon}(n)}{n} \left(\frac{x}{n}\right)^{\varepsilon' + \varepsilon}$$

where $n \subset P(x)$ means that^{*} every prime factor of n is mot more than x and where

$$\varepsilon' = 1/\log x. \tag{8.1}$$

We infer from the above that

$$\begin{split} \sum_{n \le x} g_{\varepsilon}(n) \ll \frac{x^{1+\varepsilon+\varepsilon'}}{\log x} \prod_{\substack{p \le x, \\ p \nmid r}} \left(1 + \sum_{\nu \ge 1} \frac{(1+\nu(1-p^{-\varepsilon}))}{p^{\nu(1+\varepsilon')}} \right) \prod_{p \mid r} \left(1 + \sum_{\nu \ge 1} \frac{1}{p^{\nu(1+\varepsilon')}} \right) \\ \ll \frac{x^{1+\varepsilon+\varepsilon'}}{\log x} \prod_{p \le x} \left(1 + \frac{1-p^{-\varepsilon}}{p^{1+\varepsilon'}} + \frac{1}{1-p^{-1}} - 1 - \frac{1}{p} \right) \\ \ll \frac{x^{1+\varepsilon+\varepsilon'}}{\log x} \prod_{p \le x} \left(1 + \frac{1-p^{-\varepsilon}}{p^{1+\varepsilon'}} + \frac{2}{p^2} \right) \end{split}$$

since

$$\frac{1}{1-x} - 1 - x = \frac{x^2}{1-x} \le 2x^2$$

when $x \leq 1/2$. We employ Lemma 8.1. In our case, we have $\eta = \varepsilon'$ or $\eta = \varepsilon' + \varepsilon$, and thus $1 - x^{-\eta}$ is a constant that is > 0 and < 1. As a consequence

$$\sum_{p \le x} \frac{1}{p^{1+\eta}} = -\log \eta + \mathcal{O}(1) = \log \log x + \mathcal{O}(1).$$
(8.2)

The Lemma follows readily.

*We have omitted the coprimality to r condition.

Local models and pseudo-characters

February 12, 2010

Lemma 8.3. Let $c \ge 0$ be a constant. When $c(\operatorname{Log} x)^{-1} \ge \varepsilon \ge 0$ and $r \ge 1$, we have

$$\sum_{\substack{n \le x \\ (d,r)=1}} \sum_{\substack{d|n, \\ (d,r)=1}} \mu(d) (n/d)^{\varepsilon} \tau(n/d) \ll \frac{r}{\phi(r)} x.$$

Proof. We proceed as in the preceding proof. The multiplicative function we want to sum reads

$$g_{\varepsilon}(n) = \prod_{\substack{p^{\nu} || n, \\ p \nmid r}} (p^{\nu \varepsilon}(\nu+1) - p^{(\nu-1)\varepsilon}\nu) \prod_{\substack{p^{\nu} || n, \\ p \mid r}} p^{\nu \varepsilon}(\nu+1) = n^{\varepsilon} \prod_{\substack{p^{\nu} || n, \\ p \nmid r}} (1 + \nu(1 - p^{-\varepsilon})) \prod_{\substack{p^{\nu} || n, \\ p \mid r}} (1 + \nu).$$

We use Theorem 8.1 with $g = g_{\varepsilon}$ and D = x. We have to bound, when $Q \leq x$,

$$\sum_{\substack{p^{\nu} \leq Q, \\ p \mid r}} p^{\nu \varepsilon} (1+\nu) \operatorname{Log}(p^{\nu}) + \sum_{\substack{p^{\nu} \leq Q, \\ p \nmid r}} p^{\nu \varepsilon} (1+\nu(1-p^{-\varepsilon})) \operatorname{Log}(p^{\nu}) \leq e^{c} \sum_{\substack{p^{\nu} \leq Q}} (1+\nu) \operatorname{Log}(p^{\nu}) \ll Q$$

as required. We thus get

$$\sum_{n \le x} g_{\varepsilon}(n) \ll \frac{x}{\log x} \sum_{n \le x} g_{\varepsilon}(n) / n \ll \frac{x}{\log x} \sum_{n \subset P(x)} \frac{g_{\varepsilon}(n)}{n} \left(\frac{x}{n}\right)^{\varepsilon + \varepsilon'}$$

where ε' is defined in (8.1). We thus get

$$\sum_{n \le x} g_{\varepsilon}(n) \ll \frac{x^{1+\varepsilon+\varepsilon'}}{\log x} \prod_{\substack{p \le x, \\ p \nmid r}} \left(1 + \sum_{\nu \ge 1} \frac{(1+\nu(1-p^{-\varepsilon}))}{p^{\nu(1+\varepsilon')}}\right) \prod_{\substack{p \le x, \\ p \mid r}} \left(1 + \sum_{\nu \ge 1} \frac{(1+\nu)}{p^{\nu(1+\varepsilon')}}\right).$$

Note that

$$\frac{\sum_{\nu \ge 0} (1+\nu) p^{-\nu(1+\varepsilon')}}{\sum_{\nu \ge 0} (1+\nu(1-p^{-\varepsilon})) p^{-\nu(1+\varepsilon')}} \le \frac{\sum_{\nu \ge 0} (1+\nu) p^{-\nu(1+\varepsilon')}}{\sum_{\nu \ge 0} p^{-\nu(1+\varepsilon')}} = \sum_{\nu \ge 0} \frac{1}{p^{\nu(1+\varepsilon')}} \le \frac{p}{p-1}$$

so that

$$\sum_{n \le x} g_{\varepsilon}(n) \ll \frac{r}{\phi(r)} \frac{x^{1+\varepsilon+\varepsilon'}}{\log x} \prod_{p \le x} \left(1 + \frac{(2-p^{-\varepsilon})}{p^{1+\varepsilon'}} + \left(\frac{1}{1-p^{-1}}\right)^2 - 1 - \frac{1}{p} \right)$$
$$\ll \frac{r}{\phi(r)} \frac{x^{1+\varepsilon+\varepsilon'}}{\log x} \prod_{p \le x} \left(1 + \frac{(2-p^{-\varepsilon})}{p^{1+\varepsilon'}} + \frac{4}{p^2} \right)$$

since

$$\left(\frac{1}{1-x}\right)^2 - 1 - x = \frac{x^2}{(1-x)^2} \le 4x^2$$

when $x \leq 1/2$. We invoke again Lemma 8.1, and in fact, equation (8.2) is enough to end the proof.

Lemma 8.4. When $\varepsilon \geq 0$, we have

$$\sum_{h \le H} h^{\varepsilon} = \frac{H^{1+\varepsilon}}{1+\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}^* (H^{\varepsilon})$$

Proof. Indeed, a summation by parts gves us directly

$$\sum_{h \le H} h^{\varepsilon} = \sum_{h \le H} \varepsilon \int_0^h dt / t^{1-\varepsilon} = \varepsilon \int_0^h \sum_{t < h \le H} 1 \, dt / t^{1-\varepsilon}$$
$$= \varepsilon \int_0^h (H-t) \, dt / t^{1-\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}^*(H^{\varepsilon}).$$

Let us recall the following classical Lemma.

Lemma 8.5. We have

$$\sum_{\ell \le L} 1/\ell = \operatorname{Log} L + \gamma + \mathcal{O}^*\left(\frac{7}{12L}\right)$$

Lemma 8.6. When $\varepsilon \ge 0$ and $r \ge 1$, we have

$$\sum_{m \le x} m^{\varepsilon} \tau(m) = \frac{x^{1+\varepsilon}}{1+\varepsilon} \Big(\operatorname{Log} x + 2\gamma - \frac{1}{1+\varepsilon} \Big) + \mathcal{O}^* \big(6x^{\frac{1}{2}+\varepsilon} \big).$$

 $\mathit{Proof.}$ Let us denote by S the sum to evaluate. We use Dirichlet hyperbola principle to write

$$\begin{split} S &= 2 \sum_{\ell \le \sqrt{x}} \ell^{\varepsilon} \sum_{h \le x/\ell} h^{\varepsilon} - \left(\sum_{h \le \sqrt{x}} h^{\varepsilon}\right)^{2} \\ &= 2 \frac{x^{1+\varepsilon}}{1+\varepsilon} \sum_{\ell \le \sqrt{x}} \frac{1}{\ell} + \mathcal{O}^{*}(x^{\varepsilon}\sqrt{x}) - \frac{x^{1+\varepsilon}}{(1+\varepsilon)^{2}} + \mathcal{O}^{*}(x^{\varepsilon}(2\sqrt{x}+1)) \\ &= 2 \frac{x^{1+\varepsilon}}{1+\varepsilon} \sum_{\ell \le \sqrt{x}} \frac{1}{\ell} - \frac{x^{1+\varepsilon}}{(1+\varepsilon)^{2}} + \mathcal{O}^{*}\left(4x^{\frac{1}{2}+\varepsilon}\right) \\ &= \frac{x^{1+\varepsilon}}{1+\varepsilon} (\operatorname{Log} x + 2\gamma) - \frac{x^{1+\varepsilon}}{(1+\varepsilon)^{2}} + \mathcal{O}^{*}\left(6x^{\frac{1}{2}+\varepsilon}\right) \end{split}$$

with the help of Lemma 8.5.

8.3 The method

We define here

$$\mathfrak{M}_k(r, y, \omega) = \sum_{\substack{d \le y, \\ (d, r) = 1}} \frac{\mu(d) \operatorname{Log}^k(y/d)}{d^{\omega}}.$$
(8.3)

Here is the main Lemma :

Local models and pseudo-characters

February 12, 2010

Lemma 8.7. Let $c \ge 0$ be a constant. When $c(\operatorname{Log} x)^{-1} \ge \varepsilon \ge 0$ and $r \ge 1$, we have

$$|\mathfrak{M}_0(r, x, \omega)| \ll_c 1, \quad |\mathfrak{M}_1(r, x, \omega)| \ll_c r/\phi(r).$$

Proof. It is easier to write $\omega = 1 + \varepsilon$ and to discuss in terms of ε . Let us start with $\mathfrak{M}_0(r, x, \omega)$. We start with

$$S_0 = \sum_{n \le x} \sum_{\substack{d \mid n, \\ (d,r) = 1}} \mu(d) (n/d)^{\varepsilon}$$

which is $\mathcal{O}(x/\log x)$ by Lemma 8.2. Let us write this sum differently:

$$S_0 = \sum_{\substack{d \leq x, \\ (d,r) = 1}} \mu(d) \sum_{m \leq x/d} m^{\varepsilon}$$

and we employ Lemma 8.4 to reach

$$S_0 = \frac{x^{1+\varepsilon}}{1+\varepsilon} \sum_{\substack{d \le x, \\ (d,r)=1}} \frac{\mu(d)}{d^{1+\varepsilon}} + \mathcal{O}(x).$$

By conjugating both estimates, we indeed get

$$\mathfrak{M}_0(r, x, \omega) \ll 1.$$

Let us now consider $\mathfrak{M}_1(r, x, \omega)$. We start from

$$S_1 = \sum_{\substack{n \le x \\ (d,r)=1}} \sum_{\substack{d \mid n, \\ (d,r)=1}} \mu(d) (n/d)^{\varepsilon} \tau(n/d)$$

which is $\mathcal{O}(xr/\phi(r))$ by Lemma 8.3. Let us write this sum differently:

$$S_1 = \sum_{\substack{d \le x, \\ (d,r)=1}} \mu(d) \sum_{m \le x/d} m^{\varepsilon} \tau(m)$$

and we use Lemma 8.6 to reach

$$S_1 = \frac{x^{1+\varepsilon}}{1+\varepsilon} \sum_{\substack{d \le x, \\ (d,r)=1}} \frac{\mu(d)}{d^{1+\varepsilon}} \Big(\operatorname{Log} \frac{x}{d} + 2\gamma - \frac{1}{1+\varepsilon} \Big) + \mathcal{O}^* \Big(18x^{1+\varepsilon} \Big)$$

since $\sum_{d \leq x} 1/\sqrt{d} \leq 2\sqrt{x}$. So more work using the bound on of $\mathfrak{M}_0(r, x, \omega)$ leads to the claimed result.

It is not difficult to get along these lines the following Lemma:

Lemma 8.8. Let $c \ge 0$ be a constant. When $c(\operatorname{Log} x)^{-1} \ge \varepsilon \ge 0$ and $r \ge 1$, we have

$$|\mathfrak{M}_k(r,x,\omega)| \ll_{c,k} \left(\frac{r}{\phi(r)}\right)^k (\operatorname{Log} x)^{k-1}.$$

Proof. Indeed, take instead of Lemma 8.3, we prove that

$$\sum_{n \le x} \sum_{\substack{d \mid n, \\ (d,r)=1}} \mu(d) (n/d)^{\varepsilon} \tau_{k+1}(n/d) \ll \left(\frac{r}{\phi(r)}\right)^k x (\operatorname{Log} x)^{k-1}.$$

We then continue as above.

Here is a surprising elementary consequence of the estimate for $\mathfrak{M}_1(r, k, \omega)$.

Lemma 8.9. We have

$$\Big|\sum_{\substack{d \le x, \\ (d,r)=1}} \frac{\mu(d)}{d} - x^{\varepsilon} \sum_{\substack{d \le x, \\ (d,r)=1}} \frac{\mu(d)}{d^{1+\varepsilon}}\Big| \ll_c \varepsilon \frac{r}{\phi(r)}$$

as soon as $0 \le \varepsilon \le c(\log x)^{-1}$.

Proof. It is enough to consider

$$\int_0^{\varepsilon} \sum_{\substack{d \le x, \\ (d,r)=1}} \frac{\mu(d)x^{\eta}}{d^{1+\eta}} \operatorname{Log}(x/d) d\eta \ll \varepsilon \frac{r}{\phi(r)}.$$

	-	_	٦
			I
			L
	-	-	J

More general weights

We have consider the initial weights $\lambda_d^{(1)}$ due to Barban & Vehov. As it turns out, some stronger weights may be required, and (Motohashi, 1978, Lemma 5) indeed provides us with such generalizations. Let us describe a particular case: We set

$$\lambda_d^{(2)} = \frac{\mu(d)}{2(\log z)^2} \left(\left(\log \frac{z}{d} \right)^2 \mathbb{1}_{d \le z} - 2 \left(\log \frac{z^2}{d} \right)^2 \mathbb{1}_{d \le z^2} + \left(\log \frac{z^3}{d} \right)^2 \mathbb{1}_{d \le z^3} \right).$$
(9.1)

Incidentally, the reader will have recognized there a linear combination of the weights used by (Goldston *et al.*, 2009). This linear combination has the effect that

$$\lambda_d^{(2)} = \mu(d) \quad \text{when } d \le z \tag{9.2}$$

a property that is fundamental for our approach. These weights verify also:

Lemma 9.1. We have, when $x \ge y^{1/3}$,

$$\sum_{\substack{n \le x} \\ d \le y}} \left(\sum_{\substack{d \mid n, \\ d \le y}} \mu(d) \left(\log \frac{y}{d} \right)^2 \right)^2 / n \ll \log x (\log y)^3.$$

And this implies:

Theorem 9.1. We have, when $x \ge z$,

$$\sum_{n \le x} \left(\sum_{d|n} \lambda_d^{(2)} \right)^2 / n \ll \frac{\log x}{\log z}.$$

In fact, much more is true and Motohashi proves that

Theorem 9.2. We have, when $x \ge z$,

$$\sum_{n \le x} \tau(n) \left(\sum_{d|n} \lambda_d^{(2)} \right)^2 / n \ll \left(\frac{\log x}{\log z} \right)^2.$$

A proof of Hoheisel Theorem

We give a proof of Theorem 0.1. This proof contains many parameters and we give here their priority (see (10.14)):

- Z is a small power of x.
- z is a small power of x, much smaller than Z. We assume that $z^4 \leq x$. See (10.15).
- T is about the size of z though slightly smaller; in fact $z = R^2 T$, where R is small.
- R is a small power of x, much smaller than z or T.

10.1 Introduction of the Mellin transform

We express the function ψ defined by (3.3) in terms of its Mellin transform via (3.4). The quantity we are really interested in is $\psi(x) - \psi(x - h)$ for some $h \in [1, x/2]$. We shift the line of integration from $\Re s = \sigma_0$ to

$$s = \sigma_3 = 1 - c_1 / \log(T + 2) \tag{10.1}$$

where c_1 comes from Theorem 5.1. This yields

$$\psi(x) - \psi(x-h) - h = \frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{\sigma_3 - iT}^{\sigma_3 + iT} \frac{-\zeta'(s)}{\zeta(s)} \frac{x^s - (x-h)^s}{s} ds + \mathcal{O}(xT^{-1}\log^2 x).$$
(10.2)

This uses the kernel

$$\Delta(x,h;s) = \frac{x^s - (x-h)^s}{s} = \int_{x-h}^x u^{s-1} ds.$$
(10.3)

We have clearly $|\Delta(x,h;s)| \leq h(x-h)^{\Re s-1}$ when $\Re s \leq 1$. Note however that the simple bound $|\Delta(x,h;s)| \leq 2x^{\Re s}/|s|$ is more efficient when |s| is large.

10.2 Building the companions

We now consider

$$V_r(s) = \sum_{n \ge 2} c_r(n) \left(\sum_{d|n} \lambda_d^{(1)} \right) / n^s.$$
(10.4)

This function has the good idea to (almost) factor. Note that the summation can be restricted to integers n > z.

Theorem 10.1.

$$1 + V_r(s) = \zeta(s) M_r(s, \lambda_d^{(1)})$$
(10.5)

where

$$M_r(s, \lambda_d^{(1)}) = \sum_{\substack{u|r, \\ d \le z^2}} \frac{u\mu(r/u)\lambda_d^{(1)}}{[u,d]^s}.$$
(10.6)

Here is the upper bound we shall need

$$|M_r(s, (\xi_d)_{d \le D})| \ll_{c'} ||\xi_d||_{\infty} r^2 D^{1-\sigma} \operatorname{Log} D, \quad (0 \le \Re s = \sigma \le 1 + c'/\operatorname{Log} D).$$
(10.7)

Here $(\xi_d)_{d \leq D}$ is any sequence of complex numbers bounded in absolute value by $\|\xi_d\|_{\infty}$ and whose support is included in [1, D], where $D \geq 2$. The Log D can be omited when $\sigma \leq 1/2$.

Proof. Let us start by recalling that

$$c_r(n) = \sum_{\substack{u|r, \\ u|n}} u\mu(r/u).$$
 (10.8)

As a consequence

$$1 + V_r(s) = \sum_{\substack{u|r, \\ d \le z^2}} u\mu(r/u)\lambda_d^{(1)} \sum_{\substack{[u,d]|n}} 1/n^s = \zeta(s) \sum_{\substack{u|r, \\ d \le z^2}} \frac{u\mu(r/u)\lambda_d^{(1)}}{[u,d]^s}$$

as announced. Let us prove (10.7). We write

$$|M_r(s, (\xi_d)_{d \le D})| \le \|\xi_d\|_{\infty} \sum_{\substack{u|r, \\ d \le D}} \frac{u}{[u, d]^{\sigma}} = \|\xi_d\|_{\infty} r^2 \sum_{d \le D} \frac{1}{d^{\sigma}} \ll_{c'} \|\xi_d\|_{\infty} r^2 D^{1-\sigma} \operatorname{Log} D$$

where $\sigma = \Re s.^*$

^{*}When $|\sigma - 1| \leq 1/\log D$, the summation is $\ll \delta^{-\sigma} \sum_{d \leq D/\delta} 1/n \ll \delta^{-\sigma} \log D$. Otherwise, when $\sigma \geq 1 + (\log D)^{-1}$, it is $\ll \delta^{-\sigma} \zeta(\sigma) \ll \delta^{-\sigma} \log z$. Finally, when $\sigma \geq 1 - (\log D)^{-1}$, a summation by parts is enough.

Here is a formal identity that gives us a decomposition of 1:

$$1 = V_r^2 + 2(1 + V_r) - (1 + V_r)^2.$$

There follows a decomposition of $-\zeta'/\zeta$ which we modify with the help of (10.5), until we reach

$$-\frac{\zeta'}{\zeta} = -\frac{\zeta'}{\zeta} V_r^2 - 2\zeta' M_r + \zeta' \zeta M_r^2.$$
(10.9)

The next step is encompassed in the next lemma.*

Lemma 10.1. Assume that $1 \le h \le x/2$. We have

$$\begin{split} \psi(x) - \psi(x-h) - h &= \frac{-1}{2i\pi} \int_{\sigma_3 - iT}^{\sigma_3 + iT} \frac{\zeta'(s)}{\zeta(s)} V_r^2(s) \frac{x^s - (x-h)^s}{s} ds \\ &+ \mathcal{O}(r^4 x T^{-2/3} \log x + r^4 z^2 T^{1/3} h x^{-1/2}). \end{split}$$

We could improve considerably the dependence in r and z in the error term but we prefer to stick to the simplest line of argument.

Proof. We start from (10.9). We shift the line of integration for the integral of the last two summands in $\Re s = 1/2$. The horizontal integrals that occur ar

$$\ll r^4 T^{1/3} x \max_{1/2 \le \sigma \le 1} (z^4/x)^{1-\sigma} (\log x)/T \ll r^4 T^{1/3} x (\log x)/T$$

by Theorem 5.2. The initial error term $\mathcal{O}(xT^{-1}(\log x)^2)$ gets incorporated by this one. On using this same result, we prove that the integrals on the segment $\Re s = 1/2$ are

$$\ll r^4 z^2 T^{1/3} h x^{-1/2}.$$

We now have at our disposal a *family* of representations of $\psi(x) - \psi(x - h)$, which reminds of the so called *ampliation* technique of Iwaniec; the same mechanisms are indeed used[†]. Here is our fundamental inequality

$$|\psi(x) - \psi(x-h) - h| \ll h \exp\left(-\frac{c_1 \log x}{\log(T+2)}\right) \log T \int_{\sigma_3 - iT}^{\sigma_3 + iT} |V_r(s)|^2 |ds| + r^4 x T^{-2/3} \log x + r^4 z^2 T^{1/3} h x^{-1/2}.$$
 (10.10)

Local models and pseudo-characters

^{*}This kind of decomposition comes from the theory of density estimates, see for instance... It has then been used with success in several places directly on prime numbers, by Linnik and many others.

[†]The word originally used by Iwaniec is indeed "ampliation" and not "amplification", though subsequent authors have more used the second form. The global meaning is preserved with one or the other.

10.3 A good representation of $V_r(s)$ when $\Re s$ is close to 1

We need a representation of $V_r(s)$ in the form of an absolutely convergent series. This is the object of this paragraph.

We consider, when $\Re s \ge 1/2$,

$$V_r^{\star}(s;Z) = \frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{1-i\infty}^{1+i\infty} \Gamma(w) V_r(s+w) Z^w dw.$$
(10.11)

We readily check that

$$V_r^{\star}(s;Z) = \sum_{n \ge 2} c_r(n) \Big(\sum_{d|n} \lambda_d^{(1)} \Big) e^{-n/Z} / n^s$$
(10.12)

by appealing to Lemma 3.3. On shifting the line of integration to $\Re w = -\Re s$, we get

$$V_r^{\star}(s;Z) = V_r(s) + \Gamma(1-s)Z^{1-s}M_r(1,\lambda_d^{(1)}) + \mathcal{O}(r^2 z^2 T^{1/2} Z^{-\Re s} \log T).$$
(10.13)

Let us formalise this result in a Lemma.

Lemma 10.2.

$$V_r(s) = V_r^{\star}(s; Z) - \Gamma(1-s)Z^{1-s}M_r(1, \lambda_d^{(1)}) + \mathcal{O}(r^2 z^2 T^{1/2} Z^{-\Re s} \log T)$$

when $1/2 \le \Re s \le 1$.

Proof. We have to bound

$$\int_{-\Re s - i\infty}^{-\Re s + i\infty} |\Gamma(w)\zeta(s + w)Z^w| dw.$$

We split the integral at $\Im w = \pm t$ where $t = |\Im s|$. When $|\Im w| \leq T$, we use $|\zeta(s+w)| \ll \sqrt{1+t} \log T$, while we use $|\zeta(s+w)| \ll \sqrt{1+|\Im w|} \log(1+|\Im w|)$. \Box

We will have to bound the absolute value of $M_r(1, \lambda_d^{(1)})$. First note that^{*}

$$M_{r}(1, \lambda_{d}^{(1)}) = \sum_{\substack{u|r, \\ d \le z^{2}}} \frac{(u, d)\mu(r/u)\lambda_{d}^{(1)}}{d}$$
$$= \sum_{\delta|r} \phi(\delta) \sum_{\delta|u|r} \mu(r/u) \sum_{\delta|d \le z^{2}} \frac{\lambda_{d}^{(1)}}{d} = \phi(r) \sum_{r|d \le z^{2}} \frac{\lambda_{d}^{(1)}}{d}.$$

The decomposition (6.3) gives us

$$M_r(1, \lambda_d^{(1)}) = \frac{\phi(r)}{r} \frac{\mathfrak{M}_1(r, z^2/r, 1) - \mathfrak{M}_1(r, z/r, 1)}{\log z}$$

*By first using [u,d] = ud/(u,d) followed by $(u,d) = \sum_{\delta \mid u,\delta \mid d} \phi(\delta)$.

on recalling definition (8.3). We thus apply Lemma 7.1 to infer that

$$|M_r(1, \lambda_d^{(1)})| \ll \frac{1}{\log z} \sum_{d|r} \frac{\mu^2(d)}{\sqrt{d}}.$$

We will also require the following bound:

$$\begin{split} \int_{\sigma_3 - iT}^{\sigma_3 + iT} |\Gamma(1 - s)|^2 |ds| &= \int_{\sigma_3 - iT}^{\sigma_3 + iT} |\Gamma(2 - s)|^2 \frac{dt}{|1 - s|^2} \\ &= \frac{1}{1 - \sigma_3} \int_{-T/(1 - \sigma_3)}^{T/(1 - \sigma_3)} |\Gamma(2 - \sigma_3 + iu(1 - \sigma_3))|^2 \frac{du}{1 + u^2} \\ &\leq \frac{\Gamma(2)}{1 - \sigma_3} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{du}{1 + u^2} = \frac{\pi \log T}{c_1}. \end{split}$$

10.4 Using the large sieve inequality

We have built a family of representations of $\psi(x) - \psi(x-h) - h$ and we are now going to use this family to benefit from an averaging affect. We only have to write

$$\begin{split} \sum_{r \le R} \frac{\mu^2(r)}{\phi(r)} |\psi(x) - \psi(x-h) - h| \\ \ll h \exp\left(-\frac{c_1 \log x}{\log(T+2)}\right) \log T \, \int_{\sigma_3 - iT}^{\sigma_3 + iT} \sum_{r \le R} \frac{\mu^2(r)}{\phi(r)} |V_r(s)|^2 |ds| \\ &+ R^4 x T^{-2/3} \log x + R^4 z^2 T^{1/3} h x^{-1/2} \end{split}$$

 $(\sigma_3 \text{ is defined in (10.1)})$. Lemma 10.2 provides us with a good representation of $V_r(s)$, which we introduce here

$$\begin{aligned} |\psi(x) - \psi(x - h) - h| \\ \ll h \exp\left(-\frac{c_1 \log x}{\log(T+2)}\right) \frac{\log T}{\log R} \int_{\sigma_3 - iT}^{\sigma_3 + iT} \sum_{r \le R} \frac{\mu^2(r)}{\phi(r)} |V_r^{\star}(s; Z)|^2 |ds| \\ + h \exp\left(-\frac{c_1 \log x}{\log(T+2)}\right) \frac{\log T}{\log R} + R^4 z^4 T Z^{-3/2} + R^4 x T^{-2/3} \log x + R^4 z^2 T^{1/3} h x^{-1/2} \end{aligned}$$

provided Z be a power of T. Inded, this is used to bound $(\text{Log }T)Z^{-2\sigma_3}$ by $Z^{-3/2}$. We use the large sieve inequality, in fact the hybrid version contained in Theorem 2.5. This gives us

$$\int_{\sigma_3 - iT}^{\sigma_3 + iT} \sum_{r \le R} \frac{\mu^2(r)}{\phi(r)} |V_r^{\star}(s; Z)|^2 |ds| \ll \sum_{n > z} \left(\sum_{d \mid n} \lambda_d^{(1)} \right)^2 e^{-2n/Z} (n + R^2 T) n^{-2\sigma_3} \\ \ll \sum_{n > z} \left(\sum_{d \mid n} \lambda_d^{(1)} \right)^2 e^{-2n/Z} (1 + R^2 T z^{-1}) n^{1-2\sigma_3}.$$

Local models and pseudo-characters

This is at this level that we use the fact that each factor vanishes when $n \leq z$: we need it to control the part containing the factor T. We continue with an integration by parts

$$\sum_{n>z} \frac{\left(\sum_{d|n} \lambda_d^{(1)}\right)^2}{n^{2\sigma_3 - 1}} e^{-2n/Z} = \sum_{n>z} \frac{\left(\sum_{d|n} \lambda_d^{(1)}\right)^2}{n^{2\sigma_3 - 1}} \int_n^\infty \frac{2}{Z} e^{-2t/Z} dt$$
$$= \frac{2}{Z} \int_z^\infty \sum_{z < n \le t} \frac{\left(\sum_{d|n} \lambda_d^{(1)}\right)^2}{n^{2\sigma_3 - 1}} e^{-2t/Z} dt.$$

We continue by simply noticing that, when $n \leq t$, we have $n^{2\sigma_3-1} \geq t^{2\sigma_3-2}n$. This puts us in a position to apply Theorem 6.1:

$$\begin{split} \sum_{n>z} \frac{\left(\sum_{d|n} \lambda_d^{(1)}\right)^2}{n^{2\sigma_3 - 1}} e^{-2n/Z} &\leq \frac{2}{Z} \int_z^\infty \sum_{z < n \leq t} \frac{\left(\sum_{d|n} \lambda_d^{(1)}\right)^2}{n} t^{2(1 - \sigma_3)} e^{-2t/Z} dt \\ &\ll \int_z^\infty \frac{\log t}{\log z} t^{2(1 - \sigma_3)} e^{-2t/Z} dt / Z \\ &\ll (Z/2)^{2(1 - \sigma_3)} \int_{2z/Z}^\infty \frac{\log u + \log Z}{\log z} u^{2(1 - \sigma_3)} e^{-u} du \end{split}$$

which is then

$$\ll (Z/2)^{2(1-\sigma_3)} \int_1^\infty \frac{\log u}{\log z} u^{2(1-\sigma_3)} e^{-u} du + \frac{\log Z}{\log z} (Z/2)^{2(1-\sigma_3)} \Gamma \left(1 + \frac{2c}{\log T}\right) \\ \ll \exp\left(\frac{2c_1 \log Z}{\log(T+2)}\right).$$

All this leads to the bound

$$\begin{aligned} |\psi(x) - \psi(x-h) - h| &\ll h \exp\left(-c_1 \frac{(\log x - 2\log Z)}{\log(T+2)}\right) \frac{\log T}{\log R} \\ &+ R^4 z^4 T Z^{-3/2} + R^4 x T^{-2/3} \log x + R^4 z^2 T^{1/3} h x^{-1/2} \end{aligned}$$

We then take

$$R = z^{1/100}, T = z^{49/50}, Z = z^{502/300}$$
(10.14)

so that the above inequality reduces to

$$|\psi(x) - \psi(x-h) - h| / h \ll \exp\left(-\frac{50c_1}{49}\frac{\log x}{\log z}\right) + h^{-1} + \frac{x}{h}z^{-46/75}(\log x) + z^{71/30}x^{-1/2}.$$

We finally select

hence

$$z = (2x/h)^2 (10.15)$$

$$|\psi(x) - \psi(x-h) - h|/h \ll \exp\left(-\frac{25c_1}{49}\frac{\log x}{\log(2x/h)}\right) + \frac{\log x}{x/h}.$$

provided that $x/h \leq x^{1/10}$. We conclude as follows: when $h = x^{\theta}$ with θ close enough to 1, but with $x/h \geq \log^2 x$, the RHS is $\leq 1/2$. The Theorem follows.

Gallagher prime number Theorem

It is time for us to present the Gallagher prime number Theorem. We need some preparations to do so. Let us first recall the following classical result on zeros of L-functions.

Theorem 11.1. There exists a positive constant c with the following property. For any $Q \ge 2$, any $T \ge 2$ and any primitive Dirichlet character χ modulo $q \le Q$, the Dirichlet L-function attached to χ does not have any zero in the region (in σ + it)

$$\sigma \ge 1 - \frac{c}{\log(QT)}, \quad |t| \le T$$

save maybe for single such L-function which is then attached to a real character. This function can have at most one real zero in this region.

This is the classical so called Landau-Page Lemma. Let us mention here, since it seems to be much less known that (Hinz, 1980/81) replaces the Log(QT) by $\text{Log}Q + (\text{Log}T)^{2/3}(\text{Log}\text{Log}T)^{1/3}$ provided T be ≥ 10 . See also (Bartz, 1988). It is possible to work out an explicit value of c, see (McCurley, 1984), (Kadiri, 2002), (Kadiri, 2009) and (Liu & Wang, 2002). Most probably an admissible value should be around 1/8 or even larger.

When χ is a Dirichlet character, we define

$$\psi(x,\chi) = \sum_{n \le x} \Lambda(n)\chi(n), \vartheta(x,\chi) = \sum_{p \le x} \operatorname{Log} p\,\chi(p).$$
(11.1)

If an exceptional (with respect to c) character exists, its corresponding zero is called an exceptional zero, or a Siegel zero. Given a primitive character χ to the modulus q, we consider

$$\tilde{\psi}(x,\chi) = \begin{cases} \psi(x) - x & \text{when } q = 1, \\ \psi(x,\chi) & \text{if } \chi \text{ is not exceptional and } q \ge 3, \\ \psi(x,\chi) + \frac{x^{\rho}}{\rho} & \text{if } \chi \text{ is not exceptional with exceptional zero } \rho. \end{cases}$$

Having these preparations at hand, we can state the main Theorem.

Theorem 11.2 (Gallagher prime number Theorem). There exists effective constants a_0 , a_1 and a_2 such that

$$\sum_{q \le Q} \sum_{\chi \text{ primitive modulo } q} |\tilde{\psi}(x,\chi) - \tilde{\psi}(x-h,\chi)| \le a_1 \Delta h \exp\left(-a_2 \frac{\log x}{\log Q}\right)$$

provided

$$Q^{a_0} \leq x/Q \leq h \leq x, \quad \exp(\sqrt{\operatorname{Log} x}) \leq Q$$

and where $\Delta = 1$ when no exceptional character occurs, and $\Delta = (1 - \rho) \log Q$ is there is one (with exceptional zero ρ).

The constants a_0 , a_1 and a_2 depend on c from Theorem 11.1.

Let us show how to derive Linnik Theorem on the least prime in an arithmetic progression, namely:

Theorem 11.3. There exists a constant L with the following property. Let q be a modulus, and a an invertible residue class modulo q. The least prime $\equiv a[q]$ is $\ll q^L$.

Proof. We start by noticing that

$$\vartheta(x;q,a) = \sum_{\substack{p \le x, \\ n \equiv a[q]}} \operatorname{Log} p = \frac{1}{\phi(q)} \sum_{\chi \bmod q} \overline{\chi(a)} \vartheta(x;\chi)$$

where $\vartheta(x;\chi)$ is defined in (11.1). We have to go from characters to primitive characters. Assume χ is induced by the primitive character χ^* modulo f. Then we have

$$\vartheta(x;\chi^*) = \vartheta(x;\chi) + \sum_{\substack{p \mid q, \\ p \nmid \mathfrak{f}}} \chi(p) \operatorname{Log} p = \vartheta(x;\chi) + \mathcal{O}(\operatorname{Log} q)$$

and thus

$$\vartheta(x;q,a) = \frac{1}{\phi(q)} \sum_{\substack{\mathfrak{f}|q}} \sum_{\substack{\chi^* \text{ mod } q, \\ \chi^* \text{ primitive}}} \overline{\chi(a)} \vartheta(x;\chi^*) + \mathcal{O}(\operatorname{Log} q).$$

We go from ϑ to ψ by

$$\vartheta(x;\chi) = \psi(x;\chi) + \mathcal{O}(\psi(x) - \vartheta(x)) = \psi(x;\chi) + \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{x})$$

so that

$$\vartheta(x;q,a) = \frac{1}{\phi(q)} \sum_{\mathfrak{f}|q} \sum_{\substack{\chi^* \text{ mod } q, \\ \chi^* \text{ primitive}}} \overline{\chi(a)} \psi(x;\chi^*) + \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{x} + \log q)$$

Once these easy things are established, the real proof can start. Assume first that no primitive character either modulo q or to any divisor f of q is exceptional. Then

$$\vartheta(x;q,a) = \frac{x}{\phi(q)} + \frac{1}{\phi(q)} \sum_{\mathfrak{f}|q} \sum_{\substack{\chi^* \bmod q, \\ \chi^* \text{ primitive}}} \overline{\chi(a)} \widetilde{\psi}(x;\chi^*) + \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{x} + \operatorname{Log} q).$$
(11.2)

$$= \frac{x}{\phi(q)} + \frac{1}{\phi(q)}\mathcal{O}\left(x\exp\left(-a_2\frac{\log x}{\log q}\right)\right) + \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{x} + \log q)$$
(11.3)

on appealing to Theorem 11.2 with h = x, Q = q and provided that

$$q^{a_0+1} \le x, \quad \sqrt{\log x} \le \log q.$$

The second error term is not more than the main term when $q^3 \leq x$. As for the first error term, it is $\leq \frac{1}{2}(x/\phi(q))$ when q is a small enough power of x. This proves the Theorem in this case.

Assume now that one of the characters that appears in (11.4) is exceptional. Say χ_1 (which is real-valued) with exceptional $\rho = 1 - \delta$. We then get

$$\vartheta(x;q,a) = \frac{x}{\phi(q)} - \frac{\chi_1(a)x^{1-\delta}}{\phi(q)(1-\delta)} + \frac{1}{\phi(q)} \sum_{\substack{\mathfrak{f}|q \\ \chi^* \text{ primitive}}} \overline{\chi(a)} \widetilde{\psi}(x;\chi^*) + \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{x} + \log q)(1.4)$$
$$= \frac{x}{\phi(q)} - \frac{\chi_1(a)x^{1-\delta}}{\phi(q)(1-\delta)} + \frac{1}{\phi(q)} \mathcal{O}\Big(\delta(\log q) x \exp\Big(-a_2 \frac{\log x}{\log q}\Big)\Big) + \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{x} + \log q)(1.4)$$

under the conditions as above. Note that if $\chi_1(a) = -11$, we are in a even better position as before (the main term is almost doubled), but when $\chi_1(a) = 1$, some cancellation may happen. Let us investigate in which measure:

$$\frac{x}{\phi(q)} - \frac{x^{1-\delta}}{\phi(q)(1-\delta)} = \frac{x(1-x^{\delta})}{\phi(q)} - \frac{\delta x^{1-\delta}}{\phi(q)(1-\delta)} \ge \frac{\delta x \log x}{\phi(q)} - \frac{\delta x^{1-\delta}}{\phi(q)(1-\delta)}$$
$$\ge \frac{\delta x \log x}{\phi(q)} \left(1 - \frac{\delta}{x^{\delta}(1-\delta)}\right) \ge \frac{\delta x \log x}{\phi(q)} \frac{1-2\delta}{1-\delta} \ge \frac{\delta x \log x}{2\phi(q)}$$

since δ is small. Since $\delta \operatorname{Log} x \geq \delta \operatorname{Log} q$, we can conclude as before.

A geometrical approach to the sieve

Though the notion of sieve dates back from Erathostenes, and though it has been formalised somewhat by Legendre, it is really the norwegian mathematician Viggo Brun who made it into an effective tool in (Brun, 1919). Its approach is precursory of the modern *combinatorial* sieve. Atle Selberg has then introduced a another line of approach. A third stream was to be initiated at about the same time (1940-1945) by Yu Linnik, but it is only aroung 1970 that the link between Linnik's idea and sieve theory became clear.*

12.1 The sieve problem

Let us start by detecting prime numbers among the integers from [1, N] by a "sieve" process. We use this term with caution for it covers many different processes that differ noticeably, though they have many points in common. Here what we mean by "sieving" is the following: we know that an integer n is a prime if and only if it does not any prime factors its squareroot. Subsequently every prime number $> \sqrt{N}$ is congruent to some invertible element modulo every $q \leq \sqrt{N}$. It is this very property that we want to exploit. Note that the prime numbers below \sqrt{N} are in negligible quantity.

We start more precisely with two objects:

- [a] A finite host sequence \mathcal{A} , for instance the series of integers between M + 1 et M + N.
- [b] For every $q \leq Q$, a subset $\mathcal{K}_q \subset \mathbb{Z}/q\mathbb{Z}$.

We of course assume that the sequence $(\mathcal{K}_q)_q$ is *consistant*, by which we mean that $\sigma_{q\to d}(\mathcal{K}_q) = \mathcal{K}_d$ as soon as d|q where $\sigma_{q\to d}$ denotes the canonical projection from $\mathbb{Z}/q\mathbb{Z}$ onto $\mathbb{Z}/d\mathbb{Z}$. More importantly, we assume this sequence to be *multiplicatively split*, i.e. that $\mathcal{K}_{d_1d_2} \simeq \mathcal{K}_{d_1} \times \mathcal{K}_{d_2}$ whenever $(d_1, d_2) = 1$, via the chinese isomorphism. This is easily seen to be equivalent to the giving, for each prime number p, of a consistant sequence

^{*}Or at least, clearer...

 $(\mathcal{K}_{p^{\nu}})_{\nu}$ where $\mathcal{K}_{p^{\nu}} \subset \mathbb{Z}/p^{\nu}\mathbb{Z}$. Let us remark here that when \mathcal{B} denotes un set of classes modulo d, we use the same symbol \mathcal{B} to denote the set of the integers $\in \mathbb{N}$ that belong to these classes or even for those integers modulo q that are such that $\sigma_{q \to d}(x)$ falls in \mathcal{B} , when d|q. Let me add here that the sequence $(\mathcal{K}_q)_q$ indeed defines a compact set \mathcal{K} in $\hat{\mathbb{Z}} = \lim \mathbb{Z}/n\mathbb{Z}$, which explains our terminology.

The object we want to investigate is

$$\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{K}) = \{ n \in \mathcal{A} \mid / \forall q \le Q, \quad n \in \mathcal{K}_q \}.$$
(12.1)

One of our main problem is to build a function majorising its characteristic function, or, more simply, to get an upper bound for its cardinality.

This is what we call the sieve problem. This way of doing differs from the points of view taken in (Bombieri, 1987/1974b) or in the lectures on sieves from (Selberg, 1991) on several aspects:

- (1) The usual approach considers the classes one removes modulo q and not the ones that are kept. This induces a lack of regularity in the expressions that one has to manipulate. The reader will however find traces of our way of doing in (Bombieri & Davenport, 1968) where the authors prove the Brun-Titchmarsh Theorem in an astonishing fashion.
- (2) We consider what happens modulo p, but also what happens modulo p^2, p^3, \ldots and this induces difficulties. (Gallagher, 1974) gives a partial answer on how to deal with this problem when the host sequence is an interval and (Selberg, 1976) a more complete answer, but the complexity of the resulting expressions forces him again to restrict his attention to intervals, so as to be able to use the large sieve inequality to control the error term. This exposition is also somewhat lengthy.
- (3) We usually introduce an auxiliary polynomial P and consider the congruence $P(n) \equiv 0[q]$. This is not required here, which renders this approach more "natural"

12.2Some examples of compacts sets

Here are some examples of compacts sets.

- First of all, the sequence $(\mathbb{Z}/q\mathbb{Z})_q$ is a compact set. It is even the largest one. Example 1. grand. —
- Example 2. Let us denote by \mathcal{U}_q the set of invertible elements in $\mathbb{Z}/q\mathbb{Z}$; this set is also the multiplicative group of $\mathbb{Z}/q\mathbb{Z}$. Then $(\mathcal{U}_q)_{q\in\mathcal{Q}}$ is a compact set, and if we take for \mathcal{Q} the set of all the integers $q \leq \sqrt{N}$, then every prime number between \sqrt{N} and N falls in \mathcal{U}_q modulo q. –
- Example 3. Consider the compact set $(\mathcal{U}_q \cap (\mathcal{U}_q 2))$. On taking \mathcal{Q} as above (i.e. the set of every integers $q \leq \sqrt{N}$, every prime number p such that p+2 is again a prime number falls in $\mathcal{U}_q \cap (\mathcal{U}_q - 2)$ modulo q. —

64

- Example 4. Let us now take, for every integer q, \mathcal{K}_q to be the set of squares modulo q. We readily check that (\mathcal{K}_q) is again a compact set. More gerenally, we can take the set of values taken modulo q by a given polynomial with integer coefficients. —
- Example 5. When x lies in $\mathbb{Z}/q\mathbb{Z}$, we have the notion of gcd of x and q at our disposal, and this is simply the gcd of y and q for any y congruent to x modulo q. This definition is easily checked to be independent of the choice of y, so we denote by (x,q) this gcd. We take \mathcal{K}_q to be the set of classes modulo q which gcd with q is squarefree. Then (\mathcal{K}_q) is a compact set. Remarkably enough^{*}, for every q, a squarefree integer always falls modulo q inside \mathcal{K}_q . —

The compact sets in these five examples (The first three were $(\mathbb{Z}/q\mathbb{Z})$, (\mathcal{U}_q) et $(\mathcal{U}_q \cap (\mathcal{U}_q - 2))$) are multiplicatively split.

The squarefree case

We shall say that we are in the squarefree case whenever $\mathcal{K}_q = \sigma_{q \to d}^{-1}(\mathcal{K}_d)$ as soon as d|q and they have the same prime factors. Consequently, $\mathcal{K}_{p^{\nu}}$ contains exactly the same information as does \mathcal{K}_p : when we know that x lies in \mathcal{K}_p , then this element is automatically in every $\mathcal{K}_{p^{\nu}}$ for $\nu \geq 1$.

Historically speaking, the first sieve that appeared where squarefree. This condition appears naturally in the framework of the combinatorial sieve and simplifies the usual exposition of the Selberg sieve. The first sieve that were *not* squarefree are found in (Gallagher, 1974) closely followed by (Selberg, 1976). (Motohashi, 1983) adresses also this problem.

^{*}The remarkable fact here lies in that, given a squarefree n, it falls inside \mathcal{K}_q for q. In the case of prime numbers, for instance, one has to add the condition q < n.

Local models

13.1 Local models

Let M be a multiplicatively large integer, say

$$M = \operatorname{lcm}(d, d \le N + 2).$$

Let us investigate more closely the compact set

$$\mathcal{K}_M = \mathcal{U}_M \bigcap (\mathcal{U}_M - 2)$$

An integer that verifies $\sqrt{N+2} < n \leq N$ is prime, and such that n+2 is also prime if and only if n modulo M falls in \mathcal{K}_M . This set is however extremely large since^{*} $M = e^{(1+o(1))N}$ (which is to be compared with the length of the interval that n ranges, i.e. (1+o(1))N).

Let us expand its characteritic function in Fourier series:

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{K}_{M}}(n) &= \sum_{b \bmod M} \left(\frac{1}{M} \sum_{c \in \mathcal{K}_{M}} e(-bc/M) \right) e(bn/M) \\ &= \sum_{d \mid M} \sum_{a \bmod *d} \left(\frac{1}{M} \sum_{c \in \mathcal{K}_{M}} e(-ac/d) \right) e(an/d) \\ &= \sum_{d \mid M} \sum_{a \bmod *d} \left(\frac{|\mathcal{K}_{M}|}{M|\mathcal{K}_{d}|} \sum_{c \in \mathcal{K}_{d}} e(-ac/d) \right) e(an/d) \end{split}$$

[†]We define also

$$\psi_d^*(n) = \sum_{a \bmod *d} \left(\frac{1}{|\mathcal{K}_d|} \sum_{c \in \mathcal{K}_d} e(-ac/d) \right) e(an/d).$$
(13.1)

^{*}In fact Log $M = \sum_{n \le N+2} \Lambda(n) = \psi(N+2)$, and this is the definition of the ψ -function that Riemann was using! Notation ψ here has nothing to do with (13.1) or (3.3).

[†]We have used the Johnsen-Gallagher condition, see (Gallagher, 1974), (Selberg, 1976), (Ramaré & Ruzsa, 2001) and (Ramaré, 2009).

Notice here that

$$\psi_q(n) = \sum_{d|q} \psi_d^*(n) = \frac{q}{|\mathcal{K}_q|} \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{K}_q}(n)$$
(13.2)

and this is what we shall call our *local model.* * We can rewrite our Fourier decomposition in a simpler manner:

$$\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{K}_M}(n) = \frac{|\mathcal{K}_M|}{M} \sum_{d|M} \psi_d^*(n).$$
(13.3)

What can be done with such a writing? Since summation in d is too long, let us shorten it and write

$$\frac{|\mathcal{K}_M|}{M} \sum_{d \le D} \psi_d^*(n).$$

This is also the best L^2 -approximation on the space of functions "that depend only their argument modulo d for all $d \leq D$ ". We meet here one of the major difficulty of the theory: We have to deal with this space of functions; it has a good algebraical structure but where many geometrical concept have lost their meanings. Indeed, what is a point here? Furthermore an additionnal difficulty comes from the fact that we project on a space that is way smaller than the initial one.

Let us still try to continue. We first note that the function $\sum_{d \leq D} \psi_d^*$ is constant over \mathcal{K}_M , since each ψ_d shares this property. More precisely we can invert (13.2) in

$$\psi_d^*(n) = \sum_{q|d} \mu(d/q)\psi_q(n)$$
(13.4)

which is thus equal to

$$h(d) = \sum_{q|d} \mu(d/q) \frac{|q|}{|\mathcal{K}_q|} = \prod_{p^{\nu} ||d} \left(\frac{p^{\nu}}{|\mathcal{K}_{p^{\nu}}|} - \frac{p^{\nu-1}}{|\mathcal{K}_{p^{\nu-1}}|} \right) \ge 0.$$
(13.5)

We define

$$G(D) = \sum_{d \le D} h(d). \tag{13.6}$$

The function $\sum_{d \leq D} \psi_d^*/G(D)$ equals, over \mathcal{K}_M , to the characteristic function of \mathcal{K}_M^{\dagger} . We do not have any control of its value outside this set. We use here to the same technique that Selberg used, i.e. we consider

$$\beta(n) = \left| \sum_{d \le D} \psi_d^*(n) / G(D) \right|^2.$$
(13.7)

 $^{^{*}}$ See also (Kobayashi, 1973), (Jutila, 1977b), (Jutila, 1977a) and (Kowalski & Michel, 2002), as well as (Motohashi, 1978) and (Bombieri, 1987/1974b).

[†]This only means it takes the constant value 1 on this set!

This function is an upper bound of the characteristic function of \mathcal{K}_M . It turns out that this is the same upper boud that arises from the Selberg sieve !* This approach is the one developped in (Ramaré, 2009).

When we want to sieve the prime numbers, we check that (see (13.1) and (13.5))

$$\psi_d^*(n) = \mu(d)c_d(n)/\phi(d)$$
 and $h(d) = \mu^2(d)/\phi(d)$.

The function G from (13.6) is indeed the one that arose in (2.3).

Let us conclude this general presentation by a lemma.

Lemma 13.1. On writing

$$\psi_d^*(n) = \sum_{a \bmod^* d} \hat{\psi}(a/d) e(na/d),$$
(13.8)

we have

$$\sum_{a \bmod^* d} |\hat{\psi}(a/d)|^2 = h(d)$$

Proof. Indeed, we have

$$\begin{split} \sum_{a \bmod^* d} |\hat{\psi}(a/d)|^2 &= \sum_{a \bmod^* d} \left| \frac{1}{|\mathcal{K}_d|} \sum_{c \in \mathcal{K}_d} e(-ac/d) \right|^2 \\ &= \frac{1}{|\mathcal{K}_d|^2} \sum_{c,c' \in \mathcal{K}_d} \sum_{a \bmod^* q} e(-a(c-c')/d) \\ &= \frac{1}{|\mathcal{K}_d|^2} \sum_{c,c' \in \mathcal{K}_d} \sum_{\substack{q|d, \\ q|c-c'}} q\mu(d/q) = \frac{1}{|\mathcal{K}_d|^2} q\mu(d/q) \sum_{\substack{c,c' \in \mathcal{K}_d, \\ c \equiv c'[q]}} 1 \\ &= \frac{1}{|\mathcal{K}_d|^2} \sum_{q|d} q\mu(d/q) \sum_{b \in \mathcal{K}_q} \left(\sum_{\substack{c \in \mathcal{K}_d, \\ c \equiv b[q]}} 1\right)^2 = \frac{1}{|\mathcal{K}_d|^2} \sum_{q|d} q\mu(d/q) \sum_{b \in \mathcal{K}_q} \frac{|\mathcal{K}_d|^2}{|\mathcal{K}_q|^2} = h(d) \end{split}$$

by using (10.8) for the Ramanujan sums.

13.2 Two inequalities involving local models

Here is the generalisation of (2.2) in this context.

Theorem 13.1. For any $M \in \mathbb{R}$, we have

$$\sum_{r \le R} h(r)^{-1} \left| \sum_{n} u_n \psi_r^*(n+M) \right|^2 dt \le \sum_{n} |u_n|^2 (N-1+R^2).$$

*The reader will find elements of this argument in the papers that show that the Selberg sieve is "dual" to the large sieve (in a vague sense), and for instance in (Kobayashi, 1973).

Local models and pseudo-characters

We should maybe add that the summation runs only over those r for which $h(r) \neq 0$. Indeed, using (13.8) together with (13.1), we see that $\psi_r^*(n) = 0$ when h(r) = 0. Let us further add that this summation runs over squarefree integers when the implied compact set is so.

Proof. We start from (13.1) (see also (Ramaré, 2009, (11.33))) :

$$\psi_r^*(m) = \sum_{a \bmod^* r} \hat{\psi}(a/r) e(ma/r),$$

and keep Lemma 13.1 in mind. There comes

$$\left|\sum_{n} u_n \psi_r^*(n+M)\right|^2 = \left|\sum_{a \bmod^* q} \hat{\psi}(a/r) e(Ma/r) \sum_{n} u_n e(na/r)\right|^2$$
$$\leq h(r) \sum_{a \bmod^* q} \left|\sum_{n} u_n e(na/r)\right|^2$$

and we only have to use the large sieve inequality (Theorem 2.1).

This Theorem can be applied in the same way we used Theorem 2.2 to get a sieve^{*}. Here is a hybrid version that we can get with the help of Theorem 2.5 :

Theorem 13.2. For every $M \in \mathbb{R}$ and every $T \ge \pi$, we have

$$\sum_{r \le R} h(r)^{-1} \int_{-T}^{T} \left| \sum_{n \le N} u_n n^{it} \psi_r^*(n+M) \right|^2 dt \le 500 \sum_{n \le N} |u_n|^2 (N+R^2T).$$

70

^{*}We recover here the bound given by Montgomery sievem with a presentation which is very similar, though simplified, to (Motohashi, 1983, Theorem 3).
Chapter 14

Sieving multiplicative functions

We have seen in the first section how the notion of local model led to sieve results. One of the fundamental equation is (13.1). We have then exploited the local model corresponding the prime numbers (i.e. up to some factor, the Ramanujan sum) and the main lemma is Lemm 10.1. This one relies on expression (10.8). The question now arises to know id and how we could generalize the method to every local models. As it turns out, equation (10.8) is extremely linked with the primes and has no counterpart at the level of general local models.^{*}

Let us analyse our use of local models:

- 1. We require to have a function of the shape $1 \star \lambda$ to have some equivalent of (10.8). The lemma in question has its equivalent (Kowalski & Michel, 2002, Lemma 16). The latter relies on the multiplicativity of their notion of pseudo-characters.
- 2. We need a large sieve kind of inequality, like Theorem 13.1 where the special shape of the pseudo-characters we are interested in in this time (13.8). This is (Kowalski & Michel, 2002, Proposition 13) where the authors do not rely on some more powerful inequality, like (Duke & Kowalski, 2000, Theorem 4), but establish directly a kind of quasi-orthogonality for the functions they consider. These two proofs use some (modified) Rankin-Selberg convolution products. As a matter of fact (Motohashi, 1978, Lemma 2) also avoids a writing of the shape (13.8).
- 3. We need an equivalent of Theorem 6.1 ; But this does not depend on pseudocharacters but on Barban & Vehov's weights, and (Kowalski & Michel, 2002, Lemma 15) is the variant that is required.

So, how are we going to generalize our proof? We look at sums of the type $\sum_{p \leq N} f(p)$ for a non-negative function f. We can extend it by multiplicativity. Motohashi uses such a generalization to show the Gallagher prime number Theorem from (Gallagher, 1970) (see also Theorem 11.2) in case there is an exceptional character. He builds his generalization

^{*}Here is a note for the requers that have also read(Ramaré, 2009). Generalization of (10.8) is (Ramaré, 2009, (11.14)). The condition on n is thus $n \in \mathcal{L}_{\ell}$, which reduces to a single divisibility condition modulo ℓ only in the case of \mathcal{U} .

of the pseudo-characters on a minimisation problem and we show in this chapter how to build these as local models, that is to say that we *do not* try to minimize the functional

$$\sum_{n \le N} f(n) \left(\sum_{d|n} \lambda_d\right)^2$$

but strive to approximate^{*} $p \mapsto f(p)$ by a function that looks like it "locally". We will reach the same result.

14.1 The hypothesis on f and some consequences

We start with a non-negative multiplicative function f, and we follow closely (Motohashi, 1978) and (Motohashi, 1983) concerning the hypothesis that we make on this function. The reader should keep in the mind the example f(n) = 1! We define

$$F_p = \sum_{\nu \ge 0} f(p^{\nu})/p^{\nu}$$

and we of course assume that this series converges. Note that $F_p = p/(p-1)$ when f = 1.

- (C₁) f is a non-negative multiplicative function such that $f(n) \ll_{\varepsilon} n^{\varepsilon}$ for all $\varepsilon > 0$.
- (C₂) There exist two constants A > 0 and $\alpha \ge 1$ such that $F_p 1 \ge A/p^{\alpha}$ for every prime number p.
- (C₃) There exist constants $\beta \ge 0$, $\gamma \in [0, 1]$, $\mathscr{F} > 0$ and $C' \ge 1$ such that, for every $y \ge 1$ and every (non-necessarily primitive) Dirichlet character χ modulo q, we have

$$\sum_{n \le y} \chi(n) f(n) = \delta_{\chi = \chi_0} \mathscr{F} K(q) y + \mathcal{O}^*(C' q^\beta y^\gamma)$$

where

$$K(q) = \prod_{p|q} F_p^{-1}.$$
 (14.1)

Note that when f = 1, we have $K(q) = \phi(q)/q$ since $F_p = p/(p-1)$.

A first consequence of these hypotheses is that

$$\sum_{\substack{n \le y, \\ n \equiv a[q]}} f(n) = \mathscr{F} \frac{K(q)}{\phi(q)} y + \mathcal{O}^*(C'q^\beta y^\gamma)$$
(14.2)

as soon as a is prime[†] to q. Some more work[‡] gives us the following estimate, valid for squarefree q, d a divisor of q and any a prime to q :

$$\sum_{\substack{n \le y, \\ \equiv ad[q]}} f(n) = \frac{\mathscr{P}y}{\phi(q/d)} \prod_{\substack{p \mid d, \\ p \nmid q}} F_p^{-1} \prod_{p \mid q} (1 - F_p^{-1})(1 + o(1)).$$

*We will only be able to majorize.

n

[‡]The reader will find most of it in (Motohashi, 1978) and (Motohashi, 1983).

[†]Simply by writing $\mathbb{1}_{n \equiv a[q]} = \sum_{b \mod^* q} \overline{\chi(a)} \chi(n) / \phi(q).$

We continue our definitions and set as in $(Motohashi, 1983)^*$,

$$g(r) = \prod_{p|r} (F_p - 1)^{-1}, \tag{14.3}$$

so that we may write the preceding estimate in a somewhat more compact form

$$\sum_{\substack{n \le y, \\ n \equiv ad[q]}} f(n) = \mathscr{F}y \frac{K(d)}{g(d)\phi(q/d)} (1 + o(1)).$$
(14.4)

Note that, since q is squarefree, we have here $\phi(q/d) = \phi(q)/\phi(d)$. In case f = 1, the function g is the Euler ϕ function.

14.2 The local scalar products

Let us start as in chapter 13 by selecting a multiplicatively large modulus M, say

$$M = \operatorname{lcm}(r, r \le R).$$

We look at the sequence $(f(n))_{n \leq N}$ from which we want to extract the $(f(p))_{p \leq N}$. When compared to what we presented in chapter 13, the present situation is a weighted counterpart. This seemingly minor modification has however fairly important consequences and forces us to look at was being done until now with more depth.

The scalar product on sequences

This scalar product is simply

$$(h_1, h_2) \mapsto (1/N) \sum_{n \le N} f(n) h_1(n) \overline{h_2(n)}.$$

The scalar product modulo q

We want to define a local^{\dagger} scalar product that would be the "natural" counterpart of the one on sequences. The initial candidate is

$$(h_1, h_2) \mapsto \sum_{\substack{a \bmod q}} (1/N) \sum_{\substack{n \le N, \\ n \equiv a[q]}} f(n) h_1(a) \overline{h_2(a)}$$

where, this time, the functions h_1 are h_2 are being defined on $\mathbb{Z}/q\mathbb{Z}$. By (14.4), the following expression is a approximation (up to the factor \mathscr{F}) to the summation over n in the above, with d = (a, q):

$$W(q;d) = K(q) / (g(d)\phi(q/d)).$$
(14.5)

Local models and pseudo-characters

^{*}**Careful!!** The function g(r) of (Motohashi, 1978, bottom of page 167) is here 1/g(r)! [†]That is to say "modulo q".

Hence, we define

$$[h_1|h_2]_q = \sum_{d|q} W(q;d) \sum_{\substack{a \bmod q, \\ (a,q)=d}} h_1(a) \overline{h_2(a)}$$
(14.6)

and have now the quadratic space $(\mathcal{F}(\mathbb{Z}/q\mathbb{Z}), [\cdot|\cdot]_q)$ at our disposal. We of course check that

$$\sum_{d|q} W(q;d)\phi(q/d) = 1$$
(14.7)

which says that the norm of the function 1 remains 1 on all these spaces. Notice furthermore that these weights are multiplicative i.e. that they verify

$$W(q; d) = \prod_{p^{\nu} || q} W(p^{\nu}; (p^{\nu}, d)).$$

In case f = 1, we have W(q; d) = 1/q.

Comparing different local products

Let us compare the quadratic spaces $(\mathcal{F}(\mathbb{Z}/d\mathbb{Z}), [\cdot|\cdot]_d)$ and $(\mathcal{F}(\mathbb{Z}/q\mathbb{Z}), [\cdot|\cdot]_q)$ when d|q. The lift is the first mapping that comes to mind and is indeed the first to be considered:

$$L^{\tilde{q}}_{\tilde{d}}h: x \in \mathbb{Z}/q\mathbb{Z} \mapsto h(x \mod d).$$
(14.8)

Its adjoined J_d^q is defined by

$$[h|L_{\tilde{d}}^{\tilde{q}}g]_{q} = [J_{\tilde{d}}^{\tilde{q}}h|g]_{d}.$$
(14.9)

It is here easier to use the notation $\tilde{W}(q; a) = W(q, (a, q))$. We get

$$\sum_{a \bmod q} \tilde{W}(q;a)h(a)\overline{g(a \bmod d)} = \sum_{b \bmod d} \tilde{W}(d;b) \sum_{\substack{a \bmod q, \\ a \equiv b[d]}} \frac{W(q;a)}{\tilde{W}(d;b)}h(a)\overline{g(b)}$$

which gives us

$$J_{\tilde{d}}^{\tilde{q}}h(b) = \sum_{\substack{a \bmod q, \\ a \equiv b[d]}} \frac{W(q;a)}{\tilde{W}(d;b)}h(a).$$
(14.10)

What about $J_d^q \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{U}_q}$? We have

$$J_{\tilde{d}}^{\tilde{q}} \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{U}_q}(b) = \sum_{\substack{a \bmod *_{q,} \\ a \equiv b[d]}} \frac{W(q;a)}{\tilde{W}(d;b)} = \mathbb{1}_{(b,d)=1} \frac{\phi(q)}{\phi(d)} \frac{W(q;1)}{W(d;1)}$$

hence, finally,

$$J_{\tilde{d}}^{\tilde{q}} \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{U}_q} = \frac{\phi(q)}{\phi(d)} \frac{W(q;1)}{W(d;1)} \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{U}_d}.$$
(14.11)

Lemma 14.1. When d|q, we have $J_{\tilde{d}}^{\tilde{q}}L_{\tilde{q}}^{\tilde{d}} = \mathrm{Id}$.

This Lemma is very important, because it is the one that tells us that, if h_1 are h_2 are orthogonal modulo d, then their lift modulo q stays so. Indeed

$$\left[L_{\tilde{q}}^{\tilde{d}}h_1|L_{\tilde{q}}^{\tilde{d}}h_2\right]_q = \left[J_{\tilde{d}}^{\tilde{q}}L_{\tilde{q}}^{\tilde{d}}h_1|h_2\right]_d = \left[h_1|h_2\right]_d.$$

This proof even shows that the lift of $\mathcal{F}(\mathbb{Z}/d\mathbb{Z})$ modulo q equipped with $[l]_q$ is isomorphic as quadratic space to $(\mathcal{F}(\mathbb{Z}/d\mathbb{Z}), [\cdot|\cdot]_d)$.

Proof. We look at (14.10) and see that we only have to show that

$$\sum_{\substack{a \bmod q, \\ a \equiv b[d]}} \tilde{W}(q; a) = \tilde{W}(d; b)$$

which is obvious if one remembers that

$$\tilde{W}(q;a) = \lim_{N \to infty} \sum_{\substack{n \le N, \\ n \equiv a[q]}} f(n).$$

It is also readily verified from the formal definition of W(q; d).

14.3 An orthogonal basis

Let us start by looking at what happens modulo a prime moduli p. We have the function \mathbb{I} that comes from \mathbb{Z}/\mathbb{Z} and which we lift to $\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z}$. We can then choose, when a is coprime to q, an orthonormal family $(\gamma(p; a))_{a \mod *p}$ in $(\mathcal{F}(\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z}), [\cdot|\cdot]_p)$ which is furthermore orthogonal to \mathbb{I} . And then further the construction by multiplicativity $(\gamma(q; a))_{a \mod *q}$.

Such a general way of doing is absolutely alright, and may even shed some light on what is going on, but we shall require later a basis having a very explicit form.

Here is the basis we choose:

$$\{1\!\!1\} \cup \{\chi_p^\sharp\} \cup \{\chi \mod p, \chi \text{ primitive}\}$$
(14.12)

where

$$\chi_d^{\sharp} = \prod_{p|d} (\mathbb{1} - K(p)^{-1} \chi_{0,p})$$
(14.13)

and $\chi_{0,p}$ is the principal character modulo p. In (14.15), we should understand $\mathbb{1}$ as $L^{1}_{\tilde{p}}\mathbb{1}$ since it is the function over $\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z}$ that we consider and not the function over \mathbb{Z}/\mathbb{Z} .

Lemma 14.2. The basis given by (14.15) is orthogonal for the scalar product defined in (14.6).

Proof. Indeed, the fact that

$$\{1\!\!1\} \cup \{\chi \mod p, \chi \text{ primitive}\}$$
(14.14)

is an orthogonal system is clear. It however contains only 1 + p - 2 = p - 1 functions and one is missing to form a complete system. The culprit is the principal character $\chi_{0,p}$ which is orthogonal to each χ when χ is primitive modulo p, but not to $\mathbb{1}$. So we first look at $g = \chi_{0,p} - \frac{(p-1)W(p;1)}{W(p;p)} \mathbb{1}_{p|n}$ which has all the good properties, save that we prefer another expression! We modify it as follows

$$g = \chi_{0,p} - \frac{(p-1)W(p;1)}{W(p;p)} (\mathbb{1} - \chi_{0,p}) = -\frac{(p-1)W(p;1)}{W(p;p)} \left(\mathbb{1} - \left(1 + \frac{W(p;p)}{(p-1)W(p;1)}\right) \chi_{0,p} \right).$$

We remark then that

$$1 + \frac{W(p;p)}{(p-1)W(p;1)} = 1 + \frac{1 - F_p^{-1}}{F_p^{-1}} = F_p = K(p)^{-1}$$

and thus we may replace g by χ_p^{\sharp} .

Building a basis modulo higher powers of p is easy by Lemma 14.1. Modulo p^2 , we take

$$\{1\!\!1\} \cup \{\chi_p^{\sharp}\} \cup \{\chi \mod p, \chi \text{ primitive}\} \cup \{\chi \mod p^2, \chi \text{ primitive}\}$$
(14.15)
and continue like that for higher powers.

From there onwards, it is easy to build a basis modulo q by mutiplicativity:

$$\bigcup_{\substack{t|q,\\ \mu^2(t)=1}} \bigcup_{\substack{\mathfrak{f}|d,\\ (\mathfrak{f},t)=1}} \left\{ \chi_t^{\sharp} \chi, \chi \text{ primitive modulo } \mathfrak{f} \right\}$$
(14.16)

This basis splits according to tf and each subspace generated by

(

$$\bigcup_{\substack{s|t\mathfrak{f},\\ u^2(s)=1,\\ s,t\mathfrak{f}/s)=1}} \left\{ \chi_s^{\sharp}\chi, \chi \text{ primitive modulo } t\mathfrak{f}/s \right\}$$

is in fact an adapted space of primitive functions modulo $t\mathfrak{f}$. Note here the following expression for $\chi_t^{\sharp}(n)$:

$$\chi_t^{\sharp}(n) = \sum_{\ell|t} \mu(\ell) K(\ell)^{-1} \chi_{0,\ell}(n)$$
(14.17)

Note further that, with $d = t \mathfrak{f}$,

$$\begin{split} [\chi_t^{\sharp} \chi | \chi_t^{\sharp} \chi]_d &= \prod_{p \mid \mathfrak{f}} (p-1) W(p;1) \prod_{p \mid t} ((p-1) W(p;1) (1-K(p)^{-1})^2 + W(p;p)) \\ &= \prod_{p \mid \mathfrak{f}} F_p^{-1} \prod_{p \mid t} (F_p^{-1} (1-F_p)^2 + 1 - F_p^{-1}) \\ &= \prod_{p \mid \mathfrak{f}} F_p^{-1} \prod_{p \mid t} (F_p - 1) = \mathcal{K}(\mathfrak{f}) / g(t). \end{split}$$

14.4 The local models

Let us select a multiplicatively large modulus M and consider the decomposition of $\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{U}_M}$ in a the basis we have exhibited. We proceed in two steps. First we find the orthornormal projection of $\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{U}_M}$ on each primitive space and then express this projection in terms of our orthogonal basis. We can reduce the work to a minimum by exhibiting the good candidate:

$$\vartheta_d(n) = \prod_{p|d} (F_p - 1) \prod_{\substack{p|d, \\ p|n}} (1 - F_p)^{-1} = \mu((d, n)) \frac{g((d, n))}{g(d)}.$$
 (14.18)

This expression is, up to a multiplicative factor that depends only on d the same as (Motohashi, 1983, (1.4.10))^{*} When f = 1, the function $g(d)\vartheta_d$ is simply the Ramanujan sum modulo d.

Lemma 14.3. We have

$$\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{U}_M} = K(M) \sum_{d|M} \vartheta_d(n).$$

Proof. By multiplicativity, the RHS is simply

$$K(M)\prod_{p|M} \left(1+\mu((p,n))\frac{g((p,n))}{g(p)}\right) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{when } \exists p|M/p|n, \\ K(p)\left(1+g(p)^{-1}\right) = 1 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
guired.

as required.

A more conceptual proof. We have exhibited the function ϑ_d , and we show here how we have found it. Write

$$\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{U}_M} = \sum_{q|M} \sum_{a \bmod^* q} [\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{U}_M} | \gamma(q; a)]_M \gamma(q; a).$$

Firts note that, via (14.11),

$$[\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{U}_M}|\gamma(q;a)]_M = [J_q^M \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{U}_M}|\gamma(q;a)]_q = \frac{\phi(M)}{\phi(q)} \frac{W(M;1)}{W(q;1)} [\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{U}_q}|\gamma(q;a)]_q.$$

We thus want to define

$$\vartheta_q = \frac{1}{\phi(q)W(q;1)} \sum_{a \bmod^* q} [\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{U}_q} | \gamma(q;a)]_q \gamma(q;a).$$

We remark at this level that

$$\sum_{d|q} \vartheta_d \phi(q) W(q; 1) = \sum_{d|q} \sum_{a \bmod^* d} \frac{\phi(q)}{\phi(d)} \frac{W(q; 1)}{W(d; 1)} [\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{U}_d} | \gamma(d; a)]_d \gamma(d; a)$$
$$= \sum_{d|q} \sum_{a \bmod^* d} [\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{U}_q} | \gamma(d; a)]_q \gamma(d; a) = \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{U}_q}$$

*The pseudo-character Motohashi considers is $g(d)\vartheta_d$. It is also the expression found in (Motohashi, 1978, top of page 168) but the g used there is the inverse of ours, as already mentionned.

Local models and pseudo-characters

so that, by using a Moebius inversion, we reach

$$\vartheta_d = \sum_{q|d} \mu(d/q) \frac{\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{U}_q}}{\phi(q)W(q;1)}.$$

We infer from the above that

$$\begin{split} \vartheta_d(n) &= \sum_{\substack{q|d, \\ (n,q)=1}} \frac{\mu(d/q)}{\phi(q)W(q;1)} = \sum_{q|d} \sum_{\substack{\delta|q, \\ \delta|n}} \mu(\delta) \frac{\mu(d/q)}{\phi(q)W(q;1)} \\ &= \sum_{\substack{\delta|d, \\ \delta|n}} \mu(\delta) \sum_{\delta|q|d} \frac{\mu(d/q)}{\phi(q)W(q;1)} = \sum_{\substack{\delta|d, \\ \delta|n}} \frac{\mu(\delta)}{\phi(\delta)W(\delta;1)} \prod_{p|d/\delta} \left(-1 + \frac{1}{\phi(p)W(p;1)} \right) \\ &= \mu(d) \prod_{p|d} \left(1 - \frac{1}{\phi(p)W(p;1)} \right) \sum_{\substack{\delta|d, \\ \delta|n}} \mu(\delta) \prod_{p|\delta} \frac{1}{1 - \phi(p)W(p;1)}. \end{split}$$

All that simplifies into

$$\vartheta_d(n) = \mu(d) \prod_{p|d} (1 - (\phi(p)W(p;1))^{-1}) \prod_{\substack{p|d, \\ p|n}} \frac{\phi(p)W(p;1)}{\phi(p)W(p;1) - 1}.$$

On using $W(p;1) = K(p)/\phi(p) = F_p^{-1}/\phi(p)$ (see (14.5)), we get the announced expression.

Expressing the local model in terms of our chosen orthogonal basis

We need to express our local model in terms of the basis we have exhibited. We again give two proofs.

Lemma 14.4. We have $\vartheta_d = \mu(d)\chi_d^{\sharp}$.

Proof. Just note that

$$\vartheta_p(n) = \begin{cases} F_p - 1 & \text{when } (n, p) = 1, \\ -1 & \text{when } p|n, \end{cases} \quad \chi_p^\sharp(n) = \begin{cases} 1 - F_p & \text{when } (n, p) = 1, \\ 1 & \text{when } p|n. \end{cases}$$

which proves our assertion when d is a prime number. We conclude by multiplicativity. \Box

A more conceptual proof. Let us write

$$\vartheta_d = \sum_{\mathfrak{f}|d} \sum_{\chi \bmod^* \mathfrak{f}} \frac{[\vartheta_d | \chi_{d/\mathfrak{f}}^{\sharp} \chi]_d}{[\chi_{d/\mathfrak{f}}^{\sharp} \chi | \chi_{d/\mathfrak{f}}^{\sharp} \chi]_d} \chi_{d/\mathfrak{f}}^{\sharp} \chi.$$

ц

We should compute $[\vartheta_d|\chi^{\sharp}_{d/f}\chi]_d$. We proceed by multiplicativity. There comes

$$[\vartheta_d|\chi_{d/\mathfrak{f}}^{\sharp}\chi]_d = \prod_{p|\mathfrak{f}} [\vartheta_p|\chi]_p \prod_{p|d/\mathfrak{f}} [\vartheta_p|\chi_p^{\sharp}]_p.$$

We check that the scalar product $[\vartheta_p|\chi]_p$ simply vanished! Which means that only $\mathfrak{f} = 1$ contributes, i.e. that ϑ_d is colinear to χ_d^{\sharp} . Moreover

$$\begin{split} [\vartheta_p|\chi_p^{\sharp}]_p &= (1 - K(p)^{-1})(F_p - 1)W(p;1)(p-1) - W(p;p) \\ &= -(F_p - 1)^2 F_p^{-1} - (F_p - 1)F_p^{-1} = 1 - F_p \end{split}$$

and, since $[\chi_d^{\sharp}|\chi_d^{\sharp}]_d = 1/g(d)$, we get the lemma.

14.5 A large sieve inequality adapted to f

We want to majorize

$$\sum_{\substack{t\mathfrak{f}\leq D,\\(t,\mathfrak{f})=1}} \mu^2(t) \sum_{\chi \bmod^* \mathfrak{f}} \left| \sum_{N_0 < n \leq N_0 + N} f(n) u_n \chi(n) \chi_t^{\sharp}(n) \right|^2 / \|\chi \chi_t^{\sharp}\|_d^2$$

in terms of $\sum_{M < n \le M+N} f(n) |u_n|^2$. In order to do so, we use a Lemma due to Selberg (see (Bombieri, 1987/1974a, Lemma 1.1)*). The reader will find trouvera des precursory results in (Rényi, 1959). Let us mention here that $\chi \chi^{\sharp}_{d/\mathfrak{f}}$ is seen in the numerator as a function over \mathbb{Z} and in the denominator as a function over $\mathbb{Z}/d\mathbb{Z}$.

Lemma 14.5. In any prehilbertian space, we have

$$\sum_{i} M_i^{-1} |[h|\varphi_i]|^2 \le ||h||^2$$

with $M_i = \sum_j |[\varphi_i|\varphi_j]|$.

We apply this lemma to the family $(\chi \chi_t^{\sharp})$. We have to evaluate

$$M(\chi\chi_t^{\sharp}) = \sum_{\substack{\mathfrak{g},t' \leq D, \\ (\mathfrak{g},t')=1}} \mu^2(t') \sum_{\psi \bmod^* \mathfrak{g}} \left| \sum_{N_0 < n \leq N_0 + N} f(n)\chi(n)\chi_s^{\sharp}(n)\overline{\psi(n)}\chi_t^{\sharp}(n) \right|.$$

This evaluation relies on a preliminary computation of

$$S = \sum_{N_0 < n \le N_0 + N} f(n)\chi(n)\chi_t^{\sharp}(n)\overline{\psi(n)}\chi_{t'}^{\sharp}(n).$$

*See also (Bombieri, 1971) and (Ramaré, 2009, Lemma 1.2).

Local models and pseudo-characters

We can write the product $\chi \overline{\psi}$ as $\theta \chi_{0,[\mathfrak{g},\mathfrak{f}]/\mathfrak{h}}$ where θ is a primitive character modulo \mathfrak{h} and $([\mathfrak{g},\mathfrak{f}]/\mathfrak{h},\mathfrak{h}) = 1$. We use (14.17) to get^{*}

$$S = \sum_{r|t} \mu(r) K(r)^{-1} \sum_{s|t'} \mu(s) K(s)^{-1} \sum_{N_0 < n \le N_0 + N} f(n) \theta(n) \chi_{0, rs[\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{f}]/\mathfrak{h}}(n).$$

Hypothesis (C_3) applies and gives us

$$\begin{split} S &= \sum_{r|t} \mu(r) K(r)^{-1} \sum_{s|t'} \mu(s) K(s)^{-1} \Big(\delta_{\mathfrak{h}=1} \mathscr{F} N K([r,s,[\mathfrak{f},\mathfrak{g}]/\mathfrak{h}]) + \mathcal{O}^*(C'[r,s,[\mathfrak{f},\mathfrak{g}]/\mathfrak{h}])^{\beta} (N_0 + N)^{\gamma}) \Big) \\ &= \mathscr{F} N \delta_{\mathfrak{h}=1} \sum_{r|t} \mu(r) K(r)^{-1} \sum_{s|t'} \mu(s) K(s)^{-1} K([r,s,[\mathfrak{f},\mathfrak{g}]/\mathfrak{h}]) \\ &+ \mathcal{O}^* \Big(C' \sum_{r|t} K(r)^{-1} (r\mathfrak{f})^{\beta} \sum_{s|t'} K(s)^{-1} (s\mathfrak{g})^{\beta} (N_0 + N)^{\gamma} \Big). \end{split}$$

What about the main term? It vanishes when $\mathfrak{h} \neq 1$, i.e. when $\chi \neq \psi$, which implies that $\mathfrak{f} = \mathfrak{g}$. Moreover, when $\mathfrak{f} = \mathfrak{g}$ and $\mathfrak{h} = 1$,

$$\sum_{r|t} \mu(r) \sum_{s|t'} \mu(s) \frac{K([r,s,\mathfrak{f}])}{K(r)K(s)} = K(\mathfrak{f}) \sum_{r|t} \mu(r) \sum_{s|t'} \mu(s) \frac{K([r,s])}{K(r)K(s)}$$
$$= K(\mathfrak{f}) \sum_{r|t} \mu(r) \sum_{s|t'} \mu(s) K((r,s))^{-1}.$$

We readily check that this expression vanishes as soon as[†] $t \neq t'$. Moreover, when t = t' we have

$$K(\mathfrak{f})\sum_{r|t}\mu(r)\sum_{s|t}\mu(s)\frac{K([r,s])}{K(r)K(s)} = K(\mathfrak{f})\prod_{p|t}\left(1-1-1+\frac{1}{K(p)}\right)$$
$$= K(\mathfrak{f})\prod_{p|t}(F_p-1) = \|\chi\chi_t^{\sharp}\|_{t\mathfrak{f}}^2.$$

We let the reader meditate on this equality which shows how and why we have selected our local scalar products. Notice that this norm is at least $\mathcal{O}(D^{-\alpha})$ by (C_2) . Let us now turn our attention to the error term. It is at most $(N_0 + N)^{\gamma}$ times

$$\begin{split} C'\sum_{r|t} K(r)^{-1} (r\mathfrak{f})^{\beta} \sum_{t'} \sum_{\substack{\mathfrak{g}/(\mathfrak{g},t')=1,\\\mathfrak{g}t' \leq D}} \phi(\mathfrak{g}) \sum_{s|t'} K(s)^{-1} (s\mathfrak{g})^{\beta} \\ &\leq C'\sum_{r|t} K(r)^{-1} (t\mathfrak{f})^{\beta} \sum_{\mathfrak{g} \leq D} \sum_{s \leq D/\mathfrak{g}} \phi(\mathfrak{g}) K(s)^{-1} (s\mathfrak{g})^{\beta} \frac{D}{s\mathfrak{g}} \\ &\ll_{\varepsilon} (t\mathfrak{f})^{\varepsilon+\beta} \sum_{\mathfrak{g} \leq D} D^{1+\beta} \ll_{\varepsilon} (t\mathfrak{f})^{\varepsilon+\beta} D^{2+\beta} \ll_{\varepsilon} D^{2+2\beta+\varepsilon} \end{split}$$

^{*}We have to note that $\chi_{0,\ell}$ depends only, as a function over \mathbb{Z} , on the prime factors that divide ℓ . In particular here, $\chi_{0,[r,s]} = \chi_{0,r}\chi_{0,s}$.

[†]Remember that they are both squarefree; them being distinct means that there exists a prime that divides one and not the other one.

for every $\varepsilon > 0$. Consequently

$$M(\chi\chi_t^{\sharp}) = \|\chi\chi_t^{\sharp}\|_d^2 (\mathscr{F}N + \mathcal{O}_{\varepsilon}(D^{2+2\beta+\alpha+\varepsilon}(N_0+N)^{\gamma})).$$

We have reached

$$\sum_{t \leq D} \mu^{2}(t) \sum_{\substack{\mathfrak{f} \leq D/t, \ \chi \bmod^{*}\mathfrak{f} \\ (\mathfrak{f},t)=1}} \sum_{N_{0} < n \leq N_{0}+N} f(n)u_{n}\chi(n)\chi^{\sharp}_{t}(n)\Big|^{2}/\|\chi\chi^{\sharp}_{t}\|_{d}^{2}$$
$$\leq \sum_{n} f(n)|u_{n}|^{2} (\mathscr{F}N + \mathcal{O}_{\varepsilon}(D^{2+2\beta+\alpha+\varepsilon}(N_{0}+N)^{\gamma})).$$

We finally note that $\|\chi\chi_t^{\sharp}\|_d^2 = K(\mathfrak{f})/g(t)$ and $\chi_t^{\sharp}(n) = \mu(t)\vartheta_t(n)$. Here is the result we have established:

Theorem 14.1.

$$\sum_{t \le D} \sum_{\substack{\mathfrak{f} \le D/t, \\ (\mathfrak{f}, t) = 1}} \frac{\mu^2(t)}{K(\mathfrak{f})g(t)} \Big| \sum_{N_0 < n \le N_0 + N} f(n) u_n \chi(n) g(t) \vartheta_t(n) \Big|^2 \\ \le \sum_n f(n) |u_n|^2 \big(\mathscr{F}N + \mathcal{O}_{\varepsilon} (D^{2+2\beta+\alpha+\varepsilon} (N_0 + N)^{\gamma}) \big).$$

It is essentially (Motohashi, 1978, Lemma 2) or (Motohashi, 1983, Theorem 5). Once this result is established, we can easily get a hybrid form by using Theorem 2.4 as in the proof of Theorem 2.5.

Chapter 15

While reading Motohashi...

Remarks

1. Comparing (Ramaré, 2009, (11.30)) (recall last equation of (Ramaré, 2009, (11.5))) with (Motohashi, 1978, 4) hints at

$$\phi_{r^*} = h(r)\psi_r \tag{15.1}$$

(and ψ_r will be called Ψ_r later in this paper, when corresponding to a multiplicative function).

2. Careful!! The function g(r) of (Motohashi, 1978, bottom of page 167) is here 1/g(r) according to the notations of (Motohashi, 1983)! We follow (Motohashi, 1983).

Notations

Notations used throughout these notes are standard ... in one way or the other! Here is a guideline:

- $e(y) = \exp(2i\pi y).$
- The use of the letter p for a variable always implies this variable is a prime number.
- [d, d'] stands for the lcm and (d, d') for the gcd of d and d'.
- $|\mathcal{A}|$ stands for the cardinality of the set \mathcal{A} while $\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{A}}$ stands for its characteristic function.
- $q \parallel d$ means that q divides d in such a way that q and d/q are coprime. In words we shall say that q divides d exactly.
- The squarefree kernel of the integer $d = \prod_i p_i^{\alpha_i}$ is $\prod_i p_i$, the product of all prime factors of d.
- $\omega(d)$ is the number of prime factors of d, counted without multiplicity.
- $-\phi(d)$ is the Euler totient, i.e. the cardinality of the multiplicative group of $\mathbb{Z}/d\mathbb{Z}$.
- $\tau(d)$ is the number of positive divisors of d.
- $\tau_k(d)$ is the number of k-tuples of (positive) integers (d_1, \dots, d_k) such that $d_1 \dots d_k = d$, so that $\tau_2 = \tau$.
- $\mu(d)$ is the Moebius function, that is 0 when d is divisible by a square > 1 and otherwise $(-1)^r$ otherwise, where r is the number of prime factors of d.
- $c_q(n)$ is the Ramanujan sum. It is the sum of e(an/q) over all a modulo q that are prime to q.
- $\Lambda(n)$ is van Mangoldt function: which is Log p is n is a power of the prime p and 0 otherwise.
- The notation $f = \mathcal{O}_A(g)$ means that there exists a constant B such that $|f| \leq Bg$ but that this constant may depend on A. When we put in several parameters as subscripts, it simply means the implied constant depends on all of them.

- The notation $f = \mathcal{O}^*(g)$ means that $|f| \leq g$, that is a \mathcal{O} -like notation, but with an implied constant equal to 1.
- The notation $f \star g$ denotes the arithmetic convolution of f and g, that is to say the function h on positive integers such that $h(d) = \sum_{q|d} f(q)g(d/q)$. exists for every real number x.
- \mathcal{U} is the compact set $(\mathcal{U}_d)_d$ where, for each d, \mathcal{U}_d is the set of invertible elements modulo d.
- The letter ψ is used in two different context: either to denote the summatory function of the van Mangoldt function, that is to say $\psi(x) = \sum_{n \leq x} \Lambda(n)$, with the variation $\psi(x, \chi) = \sum_{n \leq x} \chi(n) \Lambda(n)$. Or for local model as in chapter 13, see (13.1) and (3.3).
- We used the Chebyshev functions ϑ and ψ as well as their variations $\vartheta(x; \chi)$, $\vartheta(x; q, a)$, $\psi(x, \chi)$ and $\psi(x; q, a)$. See chapter 11 for details.
- $\mathbb{1}$ denotes a characteristic function in one way or another. For instance, $\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{K}_d}$ is 1 if $n \in \mathcal{K}_d$ and 0 otherwise, but we could also write it as $\mathbb{1}_{n \in \mathcal{K}_d}$, closer to what is often called the Dirac δ -symbol. We also use $\mathbb{1}_{(n,d)=1}$ and $\mathbb{1}_{q=q'}$.

References

- Barban, M;B., & Vehov, P.P. 1968. An extremal problem. Trudy Moskov. Mat., 18, 83–90.
- Bartz, K.M. 1988. An effective order of Hecke-Landau zeta functions near the line $\sigma = 1$. I. Acta Arith., **50**(2), 183–193.
- Bastien, G., & Rogalski, M. 2002. Convexité, complète monotonie et inégalités sur les fonctions zêta et gamma, sur les fonctions des opérateurs de Baskakov et sur des fonctions arithmétiques. *Canad. J. Math.*, **54**(5), 916–944.
- Bombieri, E. 1971. A note on the large sieve. Acta Arith., 18, 401–404.
- Bombieri, E. 1987/1974a. Le grand crible dans la théorie analytique des nombres. Astérisque, 18, 103pp.
- Bombieri, E. 1987/1974b. Le grand crible dans la théorie analytique des nombres. Astérisque, 18, 103pp.
- Bombieri, E., & Davenport, H. 1968. On the large sieve method. Abh. aus Zahlentheorie und Analysis zur Erinnerung an Edmund Landau, Deut. Verlag Wiss., Berlin, 11–22.
- Borel, É. 1897. Sur les zéros des fonctions entières. Acta Math., 20, 357–396.
- Brun, V. 1919. La série $\frac{1}{5} + \frac{1}{7} + \frac{1}{11} + \frac{1}{13} + \frac{1}{17} + \frac{1}{19} + \frac{1}{29} + \frac{1}{31} + \frac{1}{41} + \frac{1}{43} + \frac{1}{59} + \frac{1}{61} + \cdots$ où les dénominateurs sont "nombres premiers jumeaux" est convergente ou finie. *Darboux Bull.*, **43**(2), 100–104, 124–128.
- Cheng, Y. 1999. An explicit upper bound for the Riemann zeta-function near the line $\omega = 1$. Rocky Mountain J. Math., 29, 115–140.
- Cheng, Y., & Graham, S.W. 2004. Explicit estimates for the Riemann zeta function. Rocky Mountain J. Math., 34(4), 1261–1280.
- de la Vallée-Poussin, Ch. 1899. Sur la fonction $\zeta(s)$ de Riemann et le nombre des nombres premiers inférieurs à une limite donnée. *Belg. Mém. cour. in* 8°, LIX, 74pp.
- Duke, W., & Kowalski, E. 2000. A problem of Linnik for elliptic curves and mean-value estimates for automorphic representations. *Invent. Math.*, **139**(1), 1–39. With an appendix by Dinakar Ramakrishnan.
- Elliott, P.D.T.A. 1992. On maximal variants of the Large Sieve. II. J. Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo, Sect. IA, **39**(2), 379–383.
- Ford, K. 2000. Zero-free regions for the Riemann zeta function. *Proceedings of the Millenial Conference on Number Theory*, Urbana, IL.

Gallagher, P.X. 1970. A large sieve density estimate near $\sigma = 1$. Invent. Math., 11, 329–339.

Gallagher, P.X. 1974. Sieving by prime powers. Acta Arith., 24, 491–497.

- Goldston, D.A., Graham, S.W., Pintz, J., & Idi rim, C.Y. Yi. 2009. Small gaps between products of two primes. Proc. London Math. Soc., 98(3), 741-774.
- Graham, S.W. 1978. An asymptotic estimate related to Selberg's sieve. J. Number Theory, 10, 83 - 94.
- Granville, A., & Ramaré, O. 1996. Explicit bounds on exponential sums and the scarcity of squarefree binomial coefficients. *Mathematika*, **43**(1), 73–107.
- Halberstam, H., & Richert, H.E. 1979. On a result of R. R. Hall. J. Number Theory, 11, 76-89.
- Heath-Brown, D.R. 1992a. Zero-free regions for Dirichlet L-functions and the least prime in an arithmetic progression. Proc. London Math. Soc., III Ser., 64(2), 265–338.
- Heath-Brown, D.R. 1992b. Zero-free regions of $\zeta(s)$ and $L(s,\chi)$. Pages 195–200 of: Bombieri, E. (ed.) et al. (ed), Proceedings of the Amalfi conference on analytic number theory.
- Hinz, J.G. 1980/81. Eine Erweiterung des nullstellenfreien Bereiches der Heckeschen Zetafunktion und Primideale in Idealklassen. Acta Arith., 38(3), 209–254.
- Hoheisel, G. 1930. Primzahlprobleme in der Analysis. Sitzungsberichte Akad. Berlin, 580–588.
- Iwaniec, H., & Jutila, M. 1979. Primes in short intervals. Ark. Mat., 17(1), 167–176.
- Iwaniec, H., & Kowalski, E. 2004. Analytic number theory. American Mathematical Society Colloquium Publications. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI. xii+615 pp.
- Jutila, M. 1977a. On Linnik's constant. Math. Scand., 41(1), 45-62.
- Jutila, M. 1977b. Zero-density estimates for L-functions. Acta Arith., 32, 55–62.
- Kadiri, H. 2002. Une région explicite sans zéros pour les fonctions L de Dirichlet. Ph.D. thesis, Université Lille 1. http://tel.ccsd.cnrs.fr/documents/archives0/00/00/26/95/index_ fr.html.
- Kadiri, H. 2005. Une région explicite sans zéros pour la fonction ζ de Riemann. Acta Arith., 117(4), 303-339.
- Kadiri, H. 2009. An explicit zero-free region for the Dirichlet L-functions. To appear in J. Number Theory.
- Kobayashi, I. 1973. A note on the Selberg sieve and the large sieve. Proc. Japan Acad., 49(1), 1-5.
- Kowalski, E., & Michel, P. 2002. Zeros of families of automorphic L-functions close to 1. Pacific J. Math., **207**(2), 411–431.
- Landau, E. 1908. Beiträge zur analytischen Zahlentheorie. Palermo Rend., 26, 169–302.
- Landau, E. 1926. Über die Riemannsche Zetafunktion in der Nähe von s = 1. Rendiconti Palermo, **50**, 423–427.
- Levin, B.V., & Fainleib, A.S. 1967. Application of some integral equations to problems of number theory. Russian Math. Surveys, 22, 119–204.
- Linnik, Yu.V. 1944a. On the least prime in an arithmetic progression. I: the basic theorem. Mat. Sb., N. Ser., 15(57), 139–178.
- Linnik, Yu.V. 1944b. On the least prime in an arithmetic progression. II: the Deuring-Heilbronn theorem. Mat. Sb., N. Ser., 15(57), 139-178.

- Littlewood, J.E. 1922. Researches in the Theory of the Riemann Zeta-function. Proc. London Math. Soc., Ser. II, 20, 22–28.
- Liu, Ming-Chit, & Wang, Tianze. 2002. Distribution of zeros of Dirichlet *L*-functions and an explicit formula for $\psi(t, \chi)$. Acta Arith., **102**(3), 261–293.
- McCurley, K.S. 1984. Explicit zero-free regions for Dirichlet *L*-functions. J. Number Theory, **19**, 7–32.
- Montgomery, H.L. 1971. Topics in Multiplicative Number Theory. Lecture Notes in Mathematics (Berlin), **227**, 178pp.
- Montgomery, H.L., & Vaughan, R.C. 1974. Hilbert's inequality. J. Lond. Math. Soc., II Ser., 8, 73–82.
- Motohashi, Y. 1978. Primes in arithmetic progressions. Invent. Math., 44(2), 163–178.
- Motohashi, Y. 1983. Sieve Methods and Prime Number Theory. Tata Lectures Notes, 205.
- Ramachandra, K. 1976. Some problems of analytic number theory. Acta Arith., 31(4), 313–324.
- Ramaré, O. 2007. Eigenvalues in the large sieve inequality. Funct. Approximatio, Comment. Math., 37, 7–35.
- Ramaré, O. 2009. Arithmetical aspects of the large sieve inequality. Harish-Chandra Research Institute Lecture Notes, vol. 1. New Delhi: Hindustan Book Agency. With the collaboration of D. S. Ramana.
- Ramaré, O. 2009. Comparing $L(s, \chi)$ with its truncated Euler product and generalization. Functiones et Approximatio, 7pp.
- Ramaré, O., & Ruzsa, I.M. 2001. Additive properties of dense subsets of sifted sequences. J. Théorie N. Bordeaux, 13, 559–581.
- Rényi, A. 1959. New version of the probabilistic generalization of the large sieve. Acta Math. Acad. Sci. Hungar., 10, 217–226.
- Richert, H.-E. 1976. Lectures on sieve methods. Notes by S. Srinivasan. Lectures on Mathematics and Physics. 55. Bombay: Tata Institute of Fundamental Research. VI, 190 p. .
- Selberg, A. 1976. Remarks on multiplicative functions. Lectures Notes in Mathematics (Berlin), 626, 232–241.
- Selberg, A. 1991. Collected Papers. Springer-Verlag, II, 251pp.
- Tenenbaum, G. 1995. Introduction à la théorie analytique et probabiliste des nombres. Second edn. Cours Spécialisés, vol. 1. Paris: Société Mathématique de France.
- Titchmarsh, E.C. 1932. The theory of functions. X + 454p. Oxford, Clarendon Press.
- Titchmarsh, E.C. 1951. The Theory of Riemann Zeta Function. Oxford Univ. Press, Oxford 1951.
- Vaaler, J.D. 1985. Some Extremal Functions in Fourier Analysis. Bull. A. M. S., 12, 183–216.
- Weyl, H. 1921. Zur Abschätzung von $\zeta(1+ti)$. Math. Zeitschr., 10, 88–101.
- Wolke, D. 1973. Das Selbergsche Sieb f
 ür zahlentheoretische Funktionen. I. Arch. Math. (Basel), 24, 632–639.

Wolke, D. 1974. A lower bound for the large sieve inequality. Bull. London Math. Soc., 6, 315–318.

Local models and pseudo-characters